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HENRY BOX BROWN
ARRIVED BY ADAMS’ EXPRESS.

Although the name of Henry Box Brown has been echoed over the land for a number of
years, and the simple facts connected with his marvelous escape from slavery in a box pub-
lished widely through the medium of anti-slavery papers, nevertheless it is not unreasonable
to suppose that very little is generally known in relation to this case.

Briefly, the facts are these, which doubtless have never before been fully published—

Brown was a man of invention as well as a hero. In point of interest, however, his case is no
more remarkable than many others. Indeed, neither before nor after escaping did he suffer
one-half what many others have experienced.

He was decidedly an unhappy piece of property in the city of Richmond, Va. In the condi-
tion of a slave he felt that it would be impossible for him to remain. Full well did he know,
however, that it was no holiday task to escape the vigilance of Virginia slave-hunters, or the
wrath of an enraged master for committing the unpardonable sin of attempting to escape to
a land of liberty. So Brown counted well the cost before venturing upon this hazardous under-
taking. Ordinary modes of travel he concluded might prove disastrous to his hopes; he, there-
fore, hit upon a new invention altogether, which was to have himself boxed up and forwarded
to Philadelphia direct by express. The size of the box and how it was to be made to fit him most
comfortably, was of his own ordering. Two feet eight inches deep, two feet wide, and three feet
long were the exact dimensions of the box, lined with baize. His resources with regard to food
and water consisted of the following: One bladder of water and a few small biscuits. His
mechanical implement to meet the death-struggle for fresh air, all told, was one large gimlet.
Satisfied that it would be far better to peril his life for freedom in this way than to remain
under the galling yoke of Slavery, he entered his box, which was safely nailed up and hooped
with five hickory hoops, and was then addressed by his next friend, James A. Smith, a shoe
dealer, to Wm. H. Johnson, Arch street, Philadelphia, marked, “This side up with care.” In this
condition he was sent to Adams’ Express office in a dray, and thence by overland express to
Philadelphia. It was twenty-six hours from the time he left Richmond until his arrival in the
City of Brotherly Love. The notice, “This side up, &c.,” did not avail with the different express-
men, who hesitated not to handle the box in the usual rough manner common to this class of
men. For a while they actually had the box upside down, and had him on his head for miles. A
few days before he was expected, certain intimation was conveyed to a member of the Vigilance
Committee that a box might be expected by the three o’clock morning train from the South,
which might contain a man. One of the most serious walks he ever took—and they had not
been a few—to meet and accompany passengers, he took at half past two o’clock that morning
to the depot. Not once, but for more than a score of times, he fancied the slave would be dead.
He anxiously looked while the freight was being unloaded from the cars, to see if he could rec-
ognize a box that might contain a man; one alone had that appearance, and he confessed it
really seemed as if there was the scent of death about it. But on inquiry, he soon learned that
it was not the one he was looking after, and he was free to say he experienced a marked sense
of relief. That same afternoon, however, he received from Richmond a telegram, which read
thus, “Your case of goods is shipped and will arrive to-morrow morning.”

At this exciting juncture of affairs, Mr. McKim, who had been engineering this important
undertaking, deemed it expedient to change the programme slightly in one particular at least
to insure greater safety. Instead of having a member of the Committee go again to the depot
for the box, which might excite suspicion, it was decided that it would be safest to have the
express bring it direct to the Anti-Slavery Office.

But all apprehension of danger did not now disappear, for there was no room to suppose that
Adams’ Express office had any sympathy with the Abolitionist or the fugitive, consequently
for Mr. McKim to appear personally at the express office to give directions with reference to
the coming of a box from Richmond which would be directed to Arch street, and yet not
intended for that street, but for the Anti-Slavery office at 107 North Fifth street, it needed of
course no great discernment to foresee that a step of this kind was wholly impracticable and
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that a more indirect and covert method would have to be adopted. In this dreadful crisis Mr.
McKim, with his usual good judgment and remarkably quick, strategical mind, especially in
matters pertaining to the U. G. R. R., hit upon the following plan, namely, to go to his friend,
E. M. Davis,* who was then extensively engaged in mercantile business, and relate the cir-
cumstances. Having daily intercourse with said Adams’ Express office, and being well
acquainted with the firm and some of the drivers, Mr. Davis could, as Mr. McKim thought,
talk about “boxes, freight, etc.,” from any part of the country without risk. Mr. Davis heard
Mr. McKim’s plan and instantly approved of it, and was heartily at his service.

“Dan, an Irishman, one of Adams’ Express drivers, is just the fellow to go to the depot after
the box,” said Davis. “He drinks a little too much whiskey sometimes, but he will do anything
I ask him to do, promptly and obligingly. I'll trust Dan, for I believe he is the very man.” The
difficulty which Mr. McKim had been so anxious to overcome was thus pretty well settled. It
was agreed that Dan should go after the box next morning before daylight and bring it to the
Anti-Slavery office direct, and to make it all the more agreeable for Dan to get up out of his
warm bed and go on this errand before day, it was decided that he should have a five dollar
gold piece for himself. Thus these preliminaries having been satisfactorily arranged, it only
remained for Mr. Davis to see Dan and give him instructions accordingly, etc.

Next morning, according to arrangement, the box was at the Anti-Slavery office in due time.
The witnesses present to behold the resurrection were J. M. McKim, Professor C. D.
Cleveland, Lewis Thompson, and the writer.

Mr. McKim was deeply interested; but having been long identified with the Anti-Slavery
cause as one of its oldest and ablest advocates in the darkest days of slavery and mobs, and
always found by the side of the fugitive to counsel and succor, he was on this occasion per-
fectly composed.

Professor Cleveland, however, was greatly moved. His zeal and earnestness in the cause of
freedom, especially in rendering aid to passengers, knew no limit. Ordinarily he could not too
often visit these travelers, shake them too warmly by the hand, or impart to them too freely
of his substance to aid them on their journey. But now his emotion was overpowering.

Mr. Thompson, of the firm of Merrihew & Thompson—about the only printers in the city
who for many years dared to print such incendiary documents as anti-slavery papers and
pamphlets—one of the truest friends of the slave, was composed and prepared to witness the
scene.

All was quiet. The door had been safely locked. The proceedings commenced. Mr. McKim
rapped quietly on the lid of the box and called out, “All right!” Instantly came the answer
from within, “All right, sir!”

The witnesses will never forget that moment. Saw and hatchet quickly had the five hickory
hoops cut and the lid off, and the marvellous resurrection of Brown ensued. Rising up in his
box, he reached out his hand, saying, “How do you do, gentlemen?” The little assemblage
hardly knew what to think or do at the moment. He was about as wet as if he had come up
out of the Delaware. Very soon he remarked that, before leaving Richmond he had selected
for his arrival-hymn (if he lived) the Psalm beginning with these words: “I waited patiently
for the Lord, and He heard my prayer.” And most touchingly did he sing the psalm, much to
his own relief, as well as to the delight of his small audience.

He was then christened Henry Box Brown, and soon afterwards was sent to the hospitable
residence of James Mott and E. M. Davis, on Ninth street, where, it is needless to say, he met
a most cordial reception from Mrs. Lucretia Mott and her household. Clothing and creature
comforts were furnished in abundance, and delight and joy filled all hearts in that stronghold
of philanthropy.

As he had been so long doubled up in the box he needed to promenade considerably in the
fresh air, so James Mott put one of his broad-brim hats on his head and tendered him the hos-
pitalities of his yard as well as his house, and while Brown promenaded the yard flushed with
victory, great was the joy of his friends.

*E. M. Davis was a member of the Executive Committee of the Pennsylvania Anti-Slavery Society and a long-tried
Abolitionist, son-in-law of James and Lucretia Mott.
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RESURRECTION OF HENRY BOX BROWN

After his visit at Mr. Mott’s, he spent two days with the writer, and then took his departure
for Boston, evidently feeling quite conscious of the wonderful feat he had performed, and at the
same time it may be safely said that those who witnessed this strange resurrection were not
only elated at his success, but were made to sympathize more deeply than ever before with the
slave. Also the noble-hearted Smith who boxed him up was made to rejoice over Brown’s victory,
and was thereby encouraged to render similar service to two other young bondmen, who
appealed to him for deliverance. But, unfortunately, in this attempt the undertaking proved a
failure. Two boxes containing the young men alluded to above, after having been duly expressed
and some distance on the road, were, through the agency of the telegraph, betrayed, and the
heroic young fugitives were captured in their boxes and dragged back to hopeless bondage.
Consequently, through this deplorable failure, Samuel A. Smith was arrested, imprisoned, and
was called upon to suffer severely, as may be seen from the subjoined correspondence, taken
from the New York Tribune as soon after his release from the penitentiary.

THE DELIVERER OF BOX BROWN—
MEETING OF THE COLORED CITIZENS OF PHILADELPHIA.
[Correspondence of the N. Y. Tribune.]

PHILADELPHIA, SATURDAY, JULY 5, 1856.
Samuel A. Smith, who boxed up Henry Box Brown in Richmond, Va., and forwarded him by
overland express to Philadelphia, and who was arrested and convicted, eight years ago, for
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boxing up two other slaves, also directed to Philadelphia, having served out his imprisonment
in the Penitentiary, was released on the 18th ultimo, and arrived in this city on the 21st.

Though he lost all his property; though he was refused witnesses on his trial (no officer
could be found, who would serve a summons on a witness); though for five long months, in hot
weather, he was kept heavily chained in a cell four by eight feet in dimensions; though he
received five dreadful stabs, aimed at his heart, by a bribed assassin, nevertheless he still
rejoices in the motives which prompted him to “undo the heavy burdens, and let the oppressed
go free.” Having resided nearly all his life in the South, where he had traveled and seen much
of the “peculiar institution,” and had witnessed the most horrid enormities inflicted upon the
slave, whose cries were ever ringing in his ears, and for whom he had the warmest sympathy,
Mr. Smith could not refrain from believing that the black man, as well as the white, had God-
given rights. Consequently, he was not accustomed to shed tears when a poor creature
escaped from his “kind master;” nor was he willing to turn a deaf ear to his appeals and
groans, when he knew he was thirsting for freedom. From 1828 up to the day he was incar-
cerated, many had sought his aid and counsel, nor had they sought in vain. In various places
he operated with success. In Richmond, however, it seemed expedient to invent a new plan for
certain emergencies, hence the Box and Express plan was devised, at the instance of a few
heroic slaves, who had manifested their willingness to die in a box, on the road to liberty,
rather than continue longer under the yoke. But these heroes fell into the power of their ene-
mies. Mr. Smith had not been long in the Penitentiary before he had fully gained the esteem
and confidence of the Superintendent and other officers. Finding him to be humane and gen-
erous-hearted—showing kindness toward all, especially in buying bread, &c., for the starving
prisoners, and by a timely note of warning, which had saved the life of one of the keepers, for
whose destruction a bold plot had been arranged—the officers felt disposed to show him such
favors as the law would allow. But their good intentions were soon frustrated. The Inquisition
(commonly called the Legislature), being in session in Richmond, hearing that the Super-
intendent had been speaking well of Smith, and circulating a petition for his pardon, indig-
nantly demanded to know if the rumor was well founded. Two weeks were spent by the
Inquisition, and many witnesses were placed upon oath, to solemnly testify in the matter. One
of the keepers swore that his life had been saved by Smith. Col. Morgan, the Superintendent,
frequently testified in writing and verbally to Smith’s good deportment; acknowledging that
he had circulated petitions, &c.; and took the position, that he sincerely believed, that it would
be to the interest of the institution to pardon him; calling the attention of the Inquisition, at
the same time, to the fact, that not unfrequently pardons had been granted to criminals,
under sentence of death, for the most cold-blooded murder, to say nothing of other gross
crimes. The effort for pardon was soon abandoned, for the following reason given by the
Governor: “I can’t, and I won’t pardon him!”

In view of the unparalleled injustice which Mr. S. had suffered, as well as on account of the
aid he had rendered to the slaves, on his arrival in this city the colored citizens of
Philadelphia felt that he was entitled to sympathy and aid, and straightway invited him to
remain a few days, until arrangements could be made for a mass meeting to receive him.
Accordingly, on last Monday evening, a mass meeting convened in the Israel church, and the
Rev. Wm. T. Catto was called to the chair, and Wm. Still was appointed secretary. The chair-
man briefly stated the object of the meeting. Having lived in the South, he claimed to know
something of the workings of the oppressive system of slavery generally, and declared that,
notwithstanding the many exposures of the evil which came under his own observation, the
most vivid descriptions fell far short of the realities his own eyes had witnessed. He then
introduced Mr. Smith, who arose and in a plain manner briefly told his story, assuring the
audience that he had always hated slavery, and had taken great pleasure in helping many out
of it, and though he had suffered much physically and pecuniarily for the cause’ sake, yet he
murmured not, but rejoiced in what he had done. After taking his seat, addresses were made
by the Rev. S. Smith, Messrs. Kinnard, Brunner, Bradway, and others. The following pream-
ble and resolutions were adopted—
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WHEREAS, We, the colored citizens of Philadelphia, have among us Samuel A. Smith, who was incarcerated over
seven years in the Richmond Penitentiary, for doing an act that was honorable to his feelings and his sense of justice
and humanity, therefore,

Resolved, That we welcome him to this city as a martyr to the cause of Freedom.

Resolved, That we heartily tender him our gratitude for the good he has done to our suffering race.

Resolved, That we sympathize with him in his losses and sufferings in the cause of the poor, down-trodden slave.

W. S.

During his stay in Philadelphia, on this occasion, he stopped for about a fortnight with the
writer, and it was most gratifying to learn from him that he was no new worker on the U. G.
R. R. But that he had long hated slavery thoroughly, and although surrounded with perils on
every side, he had not failed to help a poor slave whenever the opportunity was presented.

Pecuniary aid, to some extent, was rendered him in this city, for which he was grateful, and
after being united in marriage, by Wm. H. Furness, D.D., to a lady who had remained faith-
ful to him through all his sore trials and sufferings, he took his departure for Western New
York, with a good conscience and an unshaken faith in the belief that in aiding his fellow-man
to freedom he had but simply obeyed the word of Him who taught man to do unto others as
he would be done by.

TRIAL OF THE EMANCIPATORS OF COL. J. H. WHEELER’S
SLAVES, JANE JOHNSON AND HER TWO LITTLE BOYS

Among other duties devolving on the Vigilance Committee when hearing of slaves brought
into the State by their owners, was immediately to inform such persons that as they were not
fugitives, but were brought into the State by their masters, they were entitled to their free-
dom without another moment’s service, and that they could have the assistance of the
Committee and the advice of counsel without charge, by simply availing themselves of these
proferred favors.

Many slave-holders fully understood the law in this particular, and were also equally posted
with regard to the vigilance of abolitionists. Consequently they avoided bringing slaves
beyond Mason and Dixon’s Line in traveling North. But some slave-holders were not thus
mindful of the laws, or were too arrogant to take heed, as may be seen in the case of Colonel
John H. Wheeler, of North Carolina, the United States Minister to Nicaragua. In passing
through Philadelphia from Washington, one very warm July day in 1855, accompanied by
three of his slaves, his high official equilibrium, as well as his assumed rights under the
Constitution, received a terrible shock at the hands of the Committee. Therefore, for the read-
ers of these pages, and in order to completely illustrate the various phases of the work of the
Committee in the days of Slavery, this case, selected from many others, is a fitting one.
However, for more than a brief recital of some of the more prominent incidents, it will not be
possible to find room in this volume. And, indeed, the necessity of so doing is precluded by the
fact that Mr. Williamson in justice to himself and the cause of freedom, with great pains and
singular ability, gathered the most important facts bearing on his memorable trial and
imprisonment, and published them in a neat volume for historical reference.

In order to bring fully before the reader the beginning of this interesting and exciting case,
it seems only necessary to publish the subjoined letter, written by one of the actors in the
drama, and addressed to the New York Tribune, and an additional paragraph which may be
requisite to throw light on a special point, which Judge Kane decided was concealed in the
“obstinate” breast of Passmore Williamson, as said Williamson persistently refused before the
said Judge’s court, to own that he had a knowledge of the mystery in question. After which, a
brief glance at some of the more important points of the case must suffice.
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LETTER COPIED FROM THE NEW YORK TRIBUNE
[Correspondence of The N. Y. Tribune.]

PHILADELPHIA, MONDAY, JULY 30, 1855.

As the public have not been made acquainted with the facts and particulars respecting the
agency of Mr. Passmore Williamson and others, in relation to the slave case now agitating this
city, and especially as the poor slave mother and her two sons have been so grossly misrepre-
sented, I deem it my duty to lay the facts before you, for publication or otherwise, as you may
think proper.

On Wednesday afternoon, week, at 412 o’clock, the following note was placed in my hands
by a colored boy whom I had never before seen, to my recollection:

“MR. STiLL—Sir: Will you come down to Bloodgood’s Hotel as soon as possible—as there
are three fugitive slaves here and they want liberty. Their master is here with them, on his
way to New York.”

The note was without date, and the signature so indistinctly written as not to be understood
by me, having evidently been penned in a moment of haste.

Without delay I ran with the note to Mr. P. Williamson’s office, Seventh and Arch, found
him at his desk, and gave it to him, and after reading it, he remarked that he could not go
down, as he had to go to Harrisburg that night on business—but he advised me to go, and to
get the names of the slave-holder and the slaves, in order to telegraph to New York to have
them arrested there, as no time remained to procure a writ of habeas corpus here.

I could not have been two minutes in Mr. W.’s office before starting in haste for the wharf.
To my surprise, however, when I reached the wharf, there I found Mr. W., his mind having
undergone a sudden change; he was soon on the spot.

I saw three or four colored persons in the hall at Bloodgood’s, none of whom I recognized
except the boy who brought me the note. Before having time for making inquiry some one said
they had gone on board the boat. “Get their description,” said Mr. W. I instantly inquired of
one of the colored persons for the desired description, and was told that she was “a tall, dark
woman, with two little boys.”

Mr. W. and myself ran on board of the boat, looked among the passengers on the first deck,
but saw them not. “They are up on the second deck,” an unknown voice uttered. In a second
we were in their presence. We approached the anxious-looking slave-mother with her two
boys on her left-hand; close on her right sat an ill-favored white man having a cane in his
hand which I took to be a sword-cane. (As to its being a sword-cane, however, I might have
been mistaken.)

The first words to the mother were: “Are you traveling?” “Yes,” was the prompt answer.
“With whom?”” She nodded her head toward the ill-favored man, signifying with him. Fidgeting
on his seat, he said something, exactly what I do not now recollect. In reply I remarked: “Do
they belong to you, Sir?” “Yes, they are in my charge,” was his answer. Turning from him to
the mother and her sons, in substance, and word for word, as near as I can remember, the fol-
lowing remarks were earnestly though calmly addressed by the individuals who rejoiced to
meet them on free soil, and who felt unmistakably assured that they were justified by the laws
of Pennsylvania as well as the Law of God, in informing them of their rights:

“You are entitled to your freedom according to the laws of Pennsylvania, having been
brought into the State by your owner. If you prefer freedom to slavery, as we suppose every-
body does, you have the chance to accept it now. Act calmly—don’t be frightened by your
master—you are as much entitled to your freedom as we are, or as he is—be determined and
you need have no fears but that you will be protected by the law. Judges have time and again
decided cases in this city and State similar to yours in favor of freedom! Of course, if you
want to remain a slave with your master, we cannot force you to leave; we only want to make
you sensible of your rights. Remember, if you lose this chance you may never get such
another,” etc.

This advice to the woman was made in the hearing of a number of persons present, white
and colored; and one elderly white gentleman of genteel address, who seemed to take much
interest in what was going on, remarked that they would have the same chance for their



THE UNDERGROUND RAIL RoAD

freedom in New Jersey and New York as they then had—seeming to sympathize with the
woman, etc.

During the few moments in which the above remarks were made, the slaveholder frequently
interrupted—said she understood all about the laws making her free, and her right to leave
if she wanted to; but contended that she did not want to leave—that she was on a visit to New
York to see her friends—afterward wished to return to her three children whom she left in
Virginia, from whom it would be HARD to separate her. Furthermore, he diligently tried to
constrain her to say that she did not want to be interfered with—that she wanted to go with
him—that she was on a visit to New York—had children in the South, etc.; but the woman’s
desire to be free was altogether too strong to allow her to make a single acknowledgment
favorable to his wishes in the matter. On the contrary, she repeatedly said, distinctly and
firmly, “I am not free, but I want my freedom—ALWAYS wanted to be free!! but he holds me.”

While the slaveholder claimed that she belonged to him, he said that she was free! Again he
said that he was going to give her her freedom, etc. When his eyes would be off of hers, such
eagerness as her looks expressed, indicative of her entreaty that we would not forsake her and
her little ones in their weakness, it had never been my lot to witness before, under any cir-
cumstances.

The last bell tolled! The last moment for further delay passed! The arm of the woman being
slightly touched, accompanied with the word, “Come!” she instantly arose. “Go along—go
along!” said some, who sympathized, to the boys, at the same time taking hold of their arms.
By this time the parties were fairly moving toward the stairway leading to the deck below.
Instantly on their starting, the slave-holder rushed at the woman and her children, to prevent
their leaving; and, if I am not mistaken, he simultaneously took hold of the woman and Mr.
Williamson, which resistance on his part caused Mr. W. to take hold of him and set him aside
quickly.

RESCUE OF JANE JOHNSON AND HER CHILDREN

55
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The passengers were looking on all around, but none interfered in behalf of the slaveholder
except one man, whom I took to be another slaveholder. He said harshly, “Let them alone;
they are his property!” The youngest boy, about 7 years of age—too young to know what these
things meant—cried “Massa John! Massa John!” The elder boy, 11 years of age, took the
matter more dispassionately, and the mother quite calmly. The mother and her sympathizers
all moved down the stairs together in the presence of quite a number of spectators on the first
deck and on the wharf, all of whom, as far as I was able to discern, seemed to look upon the
whole affair with the greatest indifference. The woman and children were assisted, but not
forced to leave. Nor were there any violence or threatenings as I saw or heard. The only
words that I heard from any one of an objectionable character, were: “Knock him down;
knock him down!” but who uttered it or who was meant I knew not, nor have I since been
informed. However, if it was uttered by a colored man, I regret it, as there was not the slight-
est cause for such language, especially as the sympathies of the spectators and citizens seemed
to justify the course pursued.

While passing off of the wharf and down Delaware-avenue to Dock St., and up Dock to
Front, where a carriage was procured, the slaveholder and one police officer were of the
party, if no more.

The youngest boy on being put in the carriage was told that he was “a fool for crying so after
‘Massa John,” who would sell him if he ever caught him.” Not another whine was heard on the
subject.

The carriage drove down town slowly, the horses being fatigued and the weather intensely
hot; the inmates were put out on Tenth street—not at any house—after which they soon found
hospitable friends and quietude. The excitement of the moment having passed by, the mother
seemed very cheerful, and rejoiced greatly that herself and boys had been, as she thought,
so “providentially delivered from the house of bondage!” For the first time in her life she
could look upon herself and children and feel free!

Having felt the iron in her heart for the best half of her days—having been sold with her
children on the auction block—having had one of her children sold far away from her with-
out hope of her seeing him again—she very naturally and wisely concluded to go to Canada,
fearing if she remained in this city—as some assured her she could do with entire safety—that
she might again find herself in the clutches of the tyrant from whom she had fled.

A few items of what she related concerning the character of her master may be interesting
to the reader—

Within the last two years he had sold all his slaves—between thirty and forty in number—
having purchased the present ones in that space of time. She said that before leaving
Washington, coming on the cars, and at his father-in-law’s in this city, a number of persons
had told him that in bringing his slaves into Pennsylvania they would be free. When told at
his father-in-law’s, as she overheard it, that he “could not have done a worse thing,” &ec., he
replied that “Jane would not leave him.”

As much, however, as he affected to have such implicit confidence in Jane, he scarcely
allowed her to be out of his presence a moment while in this city. To use Jane’s own language,
he was “on her heels every minute,” fearing that some one might get to her ears the sweet
music of freedom. By the way, Jane had it deep in her heart before leaving the South, and was
bent on succeeding in New York, if disappointed in Philadelphia.

At Bloodgood’s, after having been belated and left by the 2 o’clock train, while waiting for
the 5 o’clock line, his appetite tempted her “master” to take a hasty dinner. So after placing
Jane where he thought she would be pretty secure from “evil communications” from the col-
ored waiters, and after giving her a double counselling, he made his way to the table;
remained by a little while, however, before leaving to look after Jane; finding her composed,
looking over a bannister near where he left her, he returned to the table again and finished
his meal.

But, alas, for the slave-holder! Jane had her “top eye open,” and in that brief space had
appealed to the sympathies of a person whom she ventured to trust, saying, “I and my chil-
dren are slaves, and we want liberty!” I am not certain, but suppose that person, in the good-
ness of his heart, was the cause of the note being sent to the Anti-Slavery office, and hence the
result.

As to her going on to New York to see her friends, and wishing to return to her three chil-
dren in the South, and his going to free her, &c., Jane declared repeatedly and very positively,



THE UNDERGROUND RAIL RoAD 57

that there was not a particle of truth in what her master said on these points. The truth is she
had not the slightest hope of freedom through any act of his. She had only left one boy in the
South, who had been sold far away, where she scarcely ever heard from him, indeed never
expected to see him any more.

In appearance Jane is tall and well formed, high and large forehead, of genteel manners,
chestnut color, and seems to possess, naturally, uncommon good sense, though of course she
has never been allowed to read.

Thus I have given as truthful a report as I am capable of doing, of Jane and the circum-
stances connected with her deliverance.

'W. STILL.

P.S.—Of the five colored porters who promptly appeared, with warm hearts throbbing in
sympathy with the mother and her children, too much cannot be said in commendation. In
the present case they acted nobly, whatever may be said of their general character, of which
I know nothing. How human beings, who have ever tasted oppression, could have acted dif-
ferently under the circumstances I cannot conceive.

The mystery alluded to, which the above letter did not contain, and which the court failed
to make Mr. Williamson reveal, might have been truthfully explained in these words. The car-
riage was procured at the wharf, while Col. Wheeler and Mr. Williamson were debating the
question relative to the action of the Committee, and at that instant, Jane and her two boys
were invited into it and accompanied by the writer, who procured it, were driven down town,
and on Tenth Street, below Lombard, the inmates were invited out of it, and the said conduc-
tor paid the driver and discharged him. For prudential reasons he took them to a temporary
resting-place, where they could tarry until after dark; then they were invited to his own res-
idence, where they were made welcome, and in due time forwarded East. Now, what disposi-
tion was made of them after they had left the wharf, while Williamson and Wheeler were
discussing matters—(as was clearly sworn to by Passmore, in his answer to the writ of
Habeas Corpus)—he Williamson did not know. That evening, before seeing the member of the
Committee, with whom he acted in concert on the boat, and who had entire charge of Jane
and her boys, he left for Harrisburg, to fulfill business engagements. The next morning his
father (Thomas Williamson) brought the writ of Habeas Corpus (which had been served at
Passmore’s office after he left) to the Anti-Slavery Office. In his calm manner he handed it to
the writer, at the same time remarking that “Passmore had gone to Harrisburg,” and added,
“thee had better attend to it” (the writ). Edward Hopper, Esq., was applied to with the writ,
and in the absence of Mr. Williamson, appeared before the court, and stated “that the writ had
not been served, as Mr. W. was out of town,” etc.

After this statement, the Judge postponed further action until the next day. In the mean-
while, Mr. Williamson returned and found the writ awaiting him, and an agitated state of
feeling throughout the city besides. Now it is very certain, that he did not seek to know from
those in the secret, where Jane Johnson and her boys were taken after they left the wharf, or
as to what disposition had been made of them, in any way; except to ask simply, “are they
safe?” (and when told “yes,” he smiled) consequently, he might have been examined for a
week, by the most skillful lawyer, at the Philadelphia bar, but he could not have answered
other than he did in making his return to the writ, before Judge Kane, namely: “That the per-
sons named in the writ, nor either of them, are now nor was at the time of issuing of the writ,
or the original writ, or at any other time in the custody, power, or possession of the respondent,
nor by him confined or restrained; wherefore he cannot have the bodies,” etc.

Thus, while Mr. W. was subjected to the severest trial of his devotion to Freedom, his noble
bearing throughout, won for him the admiration and sympathy of the friends of humanity and
liberty throughout the entire land, and in proof of his fidelity, he most cheerfully submitted
to imprisonment rather than desert his principles. But the truth was not wanted in this
instance by the enemies of Freedom; obedience to Slavery was demanded to satisfy the South.
The opportunity seemed favorable for teaching abolitionists and negroes, that they had no



58 THE UNDERGROUND RAIL RoAD

right to interfere with a “chivalrous southern gentleman,” while passing through Philadelphia
with his slaves. Thus, to make an effective blow, all the pro-slavery elements of Philadelphia
were brought into action, and matters looked for a time as though Slavery in this instance
would have everything its own way. Passmore was locked up in prison on the flimsy pretext
of contempt of court, and true bills were found against him and half a dozen colored men,
charging them with “riot,” “forcible abduction,” and “assault and battery,” and there was no
lack of hard swearing on the part of Col. Wheeler and his pro-slavery sympathizers in sub-
stantiation of these grave charges. But the pro-slaveryites had counted without their host—
Passmore would not yield an inch, but stood as firmly by his principles in prison, as he did on
the boat. Indeed, it was soon evident, that his resolute course was bringing floods of sympa-
thy from the ablest and best minds throughout the North. On the other hand, the occasion
was rapidly awakening thousands daily, who had hitherto manifested little or no interest at
all on the subject, to the wrongs of the slave.

It was soon discovered by the “chivalry” that keeping Mr. Williamson in prison would indi-
rectly greatly aid the cause of Freedom—that every day he remained would make numerous
converts to the cause of liberty; that Mr. Williamson was doing ten-fold more in prison for the
cause of universal liberty than he could possibly do while pursuing his ordinary vocation.

With regard to the colored men under bonds, Col. Wheeler and his satellites felt very confi-
dent that there was no room for them to escape. They must have had reason so to think, judg-
ing from the hard swearing they did, before the committing magistrate. Consequently, in the
order of events, while Passmore was still in prison, receiving visits from hosts of friends, and
letters of sympathy from all parts of the North, William Still, William Curtis, James P.
Braddock, John Ballard, James Martin and Isaiah Moore, were brought into court for trial.
The first name on the list in the proceedings of the court was called up first.

Against this individual, it was pretty well understood by the friends of the slave, that no
lack of pains and false swearing would be resorted to on the part of Wheeler and his wit-
nesses, to gain a verdict.

Mr. McKim and other noted abolitionists managing the defense, were equally alive to the
importance of overwhelming the enemy in this particular issue. The Hon. Charles Gibbons,
was engaged to defend William Still, and William S. Pierce, Esq., and William B. Birney, Esq.,
the other five colored defendants.

In order to make the victory complete, the anti-slavery friends deemed it of the highest
importance to have Jane Johnson in court, to face her master, and under oath to sweep away
his “refuge of lies,” with regard to her being “abducted,” and her unwillingness to “leave her
master,” etc. So Mr. McKim and the friends very privately arranged to have Jane Johnson on
hand at the opening of the defense.

Mrs. Lucretia Mott, Mrs. McKim, Miss Sarah Pugh and Mrs. Plumly, volunteered to accom-
pany this poor slave mother to the court-house and to occupy seats by her side, while she
should face her master, and boldly, on oath, contradict all his hard swearing. A better subject
for the occasion than Jane, could not have been desired. She entered the court room veiled,
and of course was not known by the crowd, as pains had been taken to keep the public in igno-
rance of the fact, that she was to be brought on to bear witness. So that, at the conclusion of
the second witness on the part of the defense, “Jane Johnson” was called for, in a shrill voice.
Deliberately, Jane arose and answered, in a lady-like manner to her name, and was then the
observed of all observers. Never before had such a scene been witnessed in Philadelphia. It
was indescribable. Substantially, her testimony on this occasion, was in keeping with the sub-
joined affidavit, which was as follows—

“State of New York, City and County of New York.

“Jane Johnson being sworn, makes oath and says—

“My name is Jane—dJane Johnson; I was the slave of Mr. Wheeler of Washington; he bought
me and my two children, about two years ago, of Mr. Cornelius Crew, of Richmond, Va.; my
youngest child is between six and seven years old, the other between ten and eleven; I have
one other child only, and he is in Richmond; I have not seen him for about two years; never
expect to see him again; Mr. Wheeler brought me and my two children to Philadelphia, on the
way to Nicaragua, to wait on his wife; I didn’t want to go without my two children, and he
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JANE JOHNSON PASSMORE WILLIAMSON

consented to take them; we came to Philadelphia by the cars; stopped at Mr. Sully’s, Mr.
Wheeler’s father-in-law, a few moments; then went to the steamboat for New York at 2 o’clock,
but were too late; we went into Bloodgood’s Hotel; Mr. Wheeler went to dinner; Mr. Wheeler
had told me in Washington to have nothing to say to colored persons, and if any of them spoke
to me, to say I was a free woman traveling with a minister; we staid at Blodgood’s till 5 o’clock;
Mr. Wheeler kept his eye on me all the time when he was at dinner; he left his dinner to come
and see if I was safe, and then went back again; while he was at dinner, I saw a colored
woman and told her I saw a slave woman, that my master had told me not to speak to colored
people, and that if any of them spoke to me to say that I was free; but I am not free; but I want
to be free; she said: ‘poor thing, I pity you; after that I saw a colored man and said the same
thing to him, he said he would telegraph to New York, and two men would meet me at 9 o’clock
and take me with them; after that we went on board the boat, Mr. Wheeler sat beside me on
the deck; I saw a colored gentleman come on board, he beckoned to me; I nodded my head, and
could not go; Mr. Wheeler was beside me and I was afraid; a white gentleman then came and
said to Mr. Wheeler, ‘I want to speak to your servant, and tell her of her rights; Mr. Wheeler
rose and said, ‘If you have anything to say, say it to me—she knows her rights;’ the white gen-
tleman asked me if I wanted to be free; I said ‘I do, but I belong to this gentleman and I can’t
have it; he replied, ‘Yes, you can, come with us, you are as free as your master, if you want
your freedom come now; if you go back to Washington you may never get it;’ I rose to go, Mr.
Wheeler spoke, and said, ‘I will give you your freedom,” but he had never promised it before,
and I knew he would never give it to me; the white gentleman held out his hand and I went
toward him; I was ready for the word before it was given me; I took the children by the hands,
who both cried, for they were frightened, but both stopped when they got on shore; a colored
man carried the little one, I led the other by the hand. We walked down the street till we got
to a hack; nobody forced me away; nobody pulled me, and nobody led me; I went away of my
own free will; I always wished to be free and meant to be free when I came North; I hardly
expected it in Philadelphia, but I thought I should get free in New York; I have been comfort-
able and happy since I left Mr. Wheeler, and so are the children; I don’t want to go back; I
could have gone in Philadelphia if I had wanted to; I could go now; but I had rather die than
go back. I wish to make this statement before a magistrate, because I understand that Mr.
Williamson is in prison on my account, and I hope the truth may be of benefit to him.”

JANE 1% JOHNSON.
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It might have been supposed that her honest and straightforward testimony would have
been sufficient to cause even the most relentless slaveholder to abandon at once a pursuit so
monstrous and utterly hopeless as Wheeler’s was. But although he was sadly confused and
put to shame, he hung on to the “lost cause” tenaciously. And his counsel, David Webster, Esq.,
and the United States District Attorney, Vandyke, completely imbued with the pro-slavery
spirit, were equally as unyielding. And thus, with a zeal befitting the most worthy object
imaginable, they labored with untiring effort to convict the colored men.

By this policy, however, the counsel for the defense was doubly aroused. Mr. Gibbons, in the
most eloquent and indignant strains, perfectly annihilated the “distinguished Colonel John
H. Wheeler, United States Minister Plenipotentiary near the Island of Nicaragua,” taking
special pains to ring the charges repeatedly on his long appellations. Mr. Gibbons appeared
to be precisely in the right mood to make himself surpassingly forcible and eloquent, on what-
ever point of law he chose to touch bearing on the case; or in whatever direction he chose to
glance at the injustice and cruelty of the South. Most vividly did he draw the contrast between
the States of “Georgia” and “Pennsylvania,” with regard to the atrocious laws of Georgia.
Scarcely less vivid is the impression after a lapse of sixteen years, than when this eloquent
speech was made. With the District Attorney, Wm. B. Mann, Esq., and his Honor, Judge
Kelley, the defendants had no cause to complain. Throughout the entire proceedings, they had
reason to feel, that neither of these officials sympathized in the least with Wheeler or Slavery.
Indeed in the Judge’s charge and also in the District Attorney’s closing speech the ring of free-
dom could be distinctly heard—much more so than was agreeable to Wheeler and his Pro-
Slavery sympathizers. The case of Wm. Still ended in his acquittal; the other five colored men
were taken up in order. And it is scarcely necessary to say that Messrs. Peirce and Birney did
full justice to all concerned. Mr. Peirce, especially, was one of the oldest, ablest and most faith-
ful lawyers to the slave of the Philadelphia Bar. He never was known, it may safely be said,
to hesitate in the darkest days of slavery to give his time and talents to the fugitive, even in
the most hopeless cases, and when, from the unpopularity of such a course, serious sacrifices
would be likely to result. Consequently he was but at home in this case, and most nobly did
he defend his clients, with the same earnestness that a man would defend his fireside against
the approach of burglars. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury returned a verdict of “not
guilty,” as to all the persons in the first count, charging them with riot. In the second count,
charging them with “Assault and Battery” (on Col. Wheeler) Ballard and Curtis were found
“guilty,” the rest “not guilty.” The guilty were given about a week in jail. Thus ended this act
in the Wheeler drama.

The following extract is taken from the correspondence of the New York Tribune touching
Jane Johnson’s presence in the court, and will be interesting on that account:

“But it was a bold and perilous move on the part of her friends, and the deepest apprehen-
sions were felt for a while, for the result. The United States Marshal was there with his war-
rant and an extra force to execute it. The officers of the court and other State officers were
there to protect the witness and vindicate the laws of the State. Vandyke, the United States
District Attorney, swore he would take her. The State officers swore he should not, and for a
while it seemed that nothing could avert a bloody scene. It was expected that the conflict
would take place at the door, when she should leave the room, so that when she and her
friends went out, and for some time after, the most intense suspense pervaded the court-room.
She was, however, allowed to enter the carriage that awaited her without disturbance. She
was accompanied by Mr. McKim, Secretary of the Pennsylvania Anti-Slavery Society, Lucretia
Mott and George Corson, one of our most manly and intrepid police officers. The carriage was
followed by another filled with officers as a guard; and thus escorted she was taken back in
safety to the house from which she had been brought. Her title to Freedom under the laws of
the State will hardly again be brought into question.

Mr. Williamson was committed to prison by Judge Kane for contempt of Court, on the 27th
day of July, 1855, and was released on the 3d day of November the same year, having gained,
in the estimation of the friends of Freedom every where, a triumph and a fame which but few
men in the great moral battle for Freedom could claim.
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FIVE YEARS AND ONE MONTH SECRETED

JOHN HENRY, HEZEKIAH, AND JAMES HILL.—JOHN MAKES A DESPERATE
RESISTANCE AT THE SLAVE AUCTION AND ESCAPES AFTER BEING SECRETED
NINE MONTHS. HEZEKIAH ESCAPED FROM A TRADER AND WAS SECRETED THIRTEEN
MONTHS BEFORE HIS FINAL DELIVERANCE.—JAMES WAS SECRETED THREE YEARS IN
A PLACE OF GREAT SUFFERING, AND ESCAPED. IN ALL FIVE YEARS AND ONE MONTH.

Many letters from JOHN HENRY show how incessantly his mind ran out towards the
oppressed, and the remarkable intelligence and ability he displayed with the pen, consider-
ing that he had no chance to acquire book knowledge. After having fled for refuge to Canada
and having become a partaker of impartial freedom under the government of Great Britain,

* The children might be left behind.
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to many it seemed that the fugitive should be perfectly satisfied. Many appeared to think that
the fugitive, having secured freedom, had but little occasion for anxiety or care, even for his
nearest kin. “Change your name.” “Never tell any one how you escaped.” “Never let any one
know where you came from.” “Never think of writing back, not even to your wife; you can do
your kin no good, but may do them harm by writing.” “Take care of yourself.” “You are free, well,
be satisfied then.” “It will do you no good to fret about your wife and children; that will not get
them out of Slavery.” Such was the advice often given to the fugitive. Men who had been slaves
themselves, and some who had aided in the escape of individuals, sometimes urged these sen-
timents on men and women whose hearts were almost breaking over the thought that their
dearest and best friends were in chains in the prison-house. Perhaps it was thoughtlessness on
the part of some, and a wish to inspire due cautiousness on the part of others, that prompted
this advice. Doubtless some did soon forget their friends. They saw no way by which they
could readily communicate with them. Perhaps Slavery had dealt with them so cruelly, that
little hope or aspiration was left in them.

It was, however, one of the most gratifying facts connected with the fugitives, the strong love
and attachment that they constantly expressed for their relatives left in the South; the undy-
ing faith they had in God as evinced by their touching appeals on behalf of their fellow-slaves.
But few probably are aware how deeply these feelings were cherished in the breasts of this peo-
ple. Forty, fifty, or sixty years, in some instances elapsed, but this ardent sympathy and love
continued warm and unwavering as ever. Children left to the cruel mercy of slave-holders,
could never be forgotten. Brothers and sisters could not refrain from weeping over the remem-
brance of their separation on the auction block: of having seen innocent children, feeble and
defenceless women in the grasp of a merciless tyrant, pleading, groaning, and crying in vain
for pity. Not to remember those thus bruised and mangled, it would seem alike unnatural, and
impossible. Therefore it is a source of great satisfaction to be able, in relating these heroic
escapes, to present the evidences of the strong affections of this greatly oppressed race.

JOHN HENRY never forgot those with whom he had been a fellow-sufferer in Slavery; he was
always fully awake to their wrongs, and longed to be doing something to aid and encourage
such as were striving to get their Freedom. He wrote many letters in behalf of others, as well
as for himself, the tone of which, was always marked by the most zealous devotion to the
slave, a high sense of the value of Freedom, and unshaken confidence that God was on the
side of the oppressed, and a strong hope, that the day was not far distant, when the slave
power would be “suddenly broken and that without remedy.”

Notwithstanding the literary imperfections of these letters, they are deemed well suited to
these pages. Of course, slaves were not allowed book learning. Virginia even imprisoned white
women for teaching free colored children the alphabet. Who has forgotten the imprisonment
of Mrs. Douglass for this offense? In view of these facts, no apology is needed on account of
Hill’s grammar and spelling.

In these letters, may be seen, how much liberty was valued, how the taste of Freedom moved
the pen of the slave; how the thought of fellow-bondmen, under the heel of the slave-holder
aroused the spirit of indignation and wrath; how importunately appeals were made for help
from man and from God; how much joy was felt at the arrival of a fugitive, and the intense sad-
ness experienced over the news of a failure or capture of a slave. Not only are the feelings of
John Henry Hill represented in these epistles, but the feelings of very many others amongst the
intelligent fugitives all over the country are also represented to the letter. It is more with a view
of doing justice to a brave, intelligent class, whom the public are ignorant of, than merely to give
special prominence to John and his relatives as individuals, that these letters are given.

ESCAPE OF JOHN HENRY HILL FROM THE SLAVE AUCTION IN RICHMOND,
ON THE FIRST DAY OF JANUARY, 1853.

JOHN HENRY at that time, was a little turned of twenty-five years of age, full six feet high,
and remarkably well proportioned in every respect. He was rather of a brown color, with
marked intellectual features. John was by trade, a carpenter, and was considered a competent
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workman. The year previous to his escape, he
hired his time, for which he paid his owner
$150. This amount John had fully settled up
the last day of the year. As he was a young
man of steady habits, a husband and father,
and withal an ardent lover of Liberty; his
owner, John Mitchell, evidently observed
these traits in his character, and concluded
that he was a dangerous piece of property to
keep; that his worth in money could be more
easily managed than the man. Consequently,
his master unceremoniously, without intimat-
ing in any way to John, that he was to be sold,
took him to Richmond, on the first day of
January (the great annual sale day), and
directly to the slave-auction. Just as John was
being taken into the building, he was invited
to submit to hand-cuffs. As the thought

/ flashed upon his mind that he was about to be
JOHN HENRY HILL sold on the auction-block, he grew terribly des-
perate. “Liberty or death” was the watchword
of that awful moment. In the twinkling of an
eye, he turned on his enemies, with his fist, knife, and feet, so tiger-like, that he actually put
four or five men to flight, his master among the number. His enemies thus suddenly baffled,
John wheeled, and, as if assisted by an angel, strange as it may appear, was soon out of sight
of his pursuers, and securely hid away. This was the last hour of John Henry’s slave life, but
not, however, of his struggles and sufferings for freedom, for before a final chance to escape
presented itself, nine months elapsed. The mystery as to where, and how he fared, the fol-
lowing account, his own words, must explain—

Nine months I was trying to get away. I was secreted for a long time in a kitchen of a merchant
near the corner of Franklyn and 7th streets, at Richmond, where I was well taken care of, by a
lady friend of my mother. When I got Tired of staying in that place, I wrote myself a pass to pass
myself to Petersburg, here I stopped with a very prominent Colored person, who was a friend
to Freedom stayed here until two white friends told other friends if I was in the city to tell me to
go at once, and stand not upon the order of going, because they had hard a plot. I wrot a pass,
started for Richmond, Reached Manchester, got off the Cars walked into Richmond, once more
got back into the same old Den, Stayed here from the 16th of Aug. to 12th Sept. On the 11th of
Sept. 8 o’clock P. M. a message came to me that there had been a State Room taken on the
steamer City of Richmond for my benefit, and I assured the party that it would be occupied if
God be willing. Before 10 o’clock the next morning, on the 12th, a beautiful Sept. day, I arose
early, wrote my pass for Norfolk left my old Den with a many a good bye, turned out the back
way to 7th St., thence to Main, down Main behind 4 night waich to old Rockett’s and after about
20 minutes of delay I succeed in Reaching the State Room. My Conductor was very much
Excited, but I felt as Composed as I do at this moment, for I had started from my Den that
morning for Liberty or for Death providing myself with a Brace of Pistels.

Yours TrRuLy J. H. HiLL.

A private berth was procured for him on the steamship City of Richmond, for the amount of
$125, and thus he was brought on safely to Philadelphia. While in the city, he enjoyed the
hospitalities of the Vigilance Committee, and the greetings of a number of friends, during the
several days of his sojourn. The thought of his wife, and two children, left in Petersburg, how-
ever, naturally caused him much anxiety. Fortunately, they were free, therefore, he was not
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without hope of getting them; moreover, his wife’s father (Jack McCraey), was a free man, well
known, and very well to do in the world, and would not be likely to see his daughter and
grandchildren suffer. In this particular, Hill’s lot was of a favorable character, compared with
that of most slaves leaving their wives and children.

FIRST LETTER
ON ARRIVING IN CANADA.

ToroNTO, OCTOBER 4TH, 1853.

DEAR Sir:—I take this method of informing you that I am well, and that I got to this city all
safe and sound, though I did not get here as soon as I expect. I left your city on Saterday and
I was on the way untel the Friday following. I got to New York the same day that I left
Philadelphia, but I had to stay there untel Monday evening. I left that place at six o’clock. I
got to Albany next morning in time to take the half past six o’clock train for Rochester, here
I stay untel Wensday night. The reason I stay there so long Mr. Gibbs given me a letter to Mr.
Morris at Rochester. I left that place Wensday, but I only got five miles from that city that
night. T got to Lewiston on Thurday afternoon, but too late for the boat to this city. I left
Lewiston on Friday at one o’clock, got to this city at five. Sir I found this to be a very hand-
some city. I like it better than any city I ever saw. It are not as large as the city that you live
in, but it is very large place much more so than I expect to find it. I seen the gentleman that
you given me letter to. I think him much of a gentleman. I got into work on Monday. The man
whom I am working for is name Myers; but I expect to go to work for another man by name
of Tinsly, who is a master workman in this city. He says that he will give me work next week
and everybody advises me to work for Mr. Tinsly as there more surity in him.

Mr. Still, I have been looking and looking for my friends for several days, but have not seen
nor heard of them. I hope and trust in the Lord Almighty that all things are well with them.
My dear sir I could feel so much better sattisfied if I could hear from my wife. Since I reached
this city I have talagraphed to friend Brown to send my thing to me, but I cannot hear a word
from no one at all. I have written to Mr. Brown two or three times since I left the city. I trust
that he has gotten my wife’s letters, that is if she has written. Please direct your letters to me,
near the corner Sarah and Edward street, until I give you further notice. You will tell friend
B. how to direct his letters, as I forgotten it when I writt to him, and ask him if he has heard
anything from Virginia. Please to let me hear from him without delay for my very soul is
trubled about my friends whom I expected to of seen here before this hour. Whatever you do
please to write. I shall look for you paper shortly. Believe me sir to be your well wisher.

JouN H. HiLL.

SECOND LETTER.
EXPRESSIONS OF GRATITUDE—THE CUSTOM HOUSE REFUSES TO CHARGE HIM DUTY—
HE 1S GREATLY CONCERNED FOR HIS WIFE

ToroNTO, OCTOBER 30TH, 1853.

My DeAR FRIEND:—I now write to inform you that I have received my things all safe and
sound, and also have shuck hand with the friend that you send on to this place one of them is
stopping with me. His name is Chas. Stuert, he seemes to be a tolerable smart fellow. I Rec’d
my letters. I have taken this friend to see Mr. Smith. However will give him a place to board
untell he can get to work. I shall do every thing I can for them all that I see the gentleman wish
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you to see his wife and let her know that he arrived safe, and present his love to her and to all
the friend. Mr. Still, I am under ten thousand obligation to you for your kindness when shall
I ever repay? S. speek very highly of you. I will state to you that Custom house master said to
me. He ask me when he Presented my efects are these your efects. I answered yes. He then ask
me was | going to settle in Canada. I told him I was. He then ask me of my case. I told all about
it. He said I am happy to see you and all that will come. He ask me how much I had to pay for
my Paper. I told him half dollar. He then told me that I should have my money again. He a
Rose from his seat and got my money. So my friend you can see the people and tell them all this
is a land of liberty and believe they will find friends here. My best love to all.

My friend I must call upon you once more to do more kindness for me that is to write to my
wife as soon as you get this, and tell her when she gets ready to come she will pack and con-
sign her things to you. You will give her some instruction, but not to your expenses but to her
own.

When you write direct your letter to Phillip Ubank, Petersburg, Va. My Box arrive here
the 27th.

My dear sir I am in a hurry to take this friend to church, so I must close by saying I am
your humble servant in the cause of liberty and humanity.

Joun H. HILL.

THIRD LETTER.
CANADA IS HIGHLY PRAISED—THE VIGILANCE COMMITTEE IS IMPLORED TO SEND ALL THE
FuGITIVES THERE—“FARMERS AND MECHANICS WANTED”—“NO LIVING IN CANADA FOR NEGROES,”
AS ARGUED BY “MASTERS,” FLATLY DENIED, &cC., &cC., &cC.

So I ask you to send the fugitives to Canada. I don’t know much of this Province but I
beleaves that there is Rome enough for the colored and whites of the United States. We wants
farmers mechanic men of all qualification &c, if they are not made we will make them, if we
cannot make the old, we will make our children.

Now concerning the city toronto this city is Beautiful and Prosperous Levele city. Great
many wooden codages more than what should be but I am in hopes there will be more of the
Brick and Stonn. But I am not done about your Republicanism. Our masters have told us that
there was no living in Canada for a Negro but if it may Please your gentlemanship to publish
these facts that we are here able to earn our bread and money enough to make us comftable.
But I say give me freedom, and the United States may have all her money and her Luxtures,
yeas give Liberty or Death. I’'m in America, but not under Such a Government that I cannot
express myself, speak, think or write So as I am able, and if my master had allowed me to
have an education I would make them American Slave-holders feel me, Yeas I would make
them tremble when I spoke, and when I take my Pen in hand their knees smote together. My
Dear Sir suppose I was an educated man. I could write you something worth reading, but you
know we poor fugitives whom has just come over from the South are not able to write much
on no subject whatever, but I hope by the aid of my God I will try to use my midnight lamp,
untel I can have some influence upon the American Slavery. If some one would say to me, that
they would give my wife bread untel I could be Educated I would stoop my trade this day and
take up my books.

But a crisis is approaching when assential requisite to the American Slaveholders when blood
Death or Liberty will be required at their hands. I think our people have depened too long and
too much on false legislator let us now look for ourselves. It is true that England however the
Englishman is our best friend but we as men ought not to depened upon her Remonstrace with
the Americans because she loves her commercial trade as any Nations do. But I must say, while
we look up and acknowledge the Power greatness and honor of old England, and believe that
while we sit beneath the Silken folds of her flag of Perfect Liberty, we are secure, beyond the
reach of the aggressions of the Blood hounds and free from the despotism that would wrap
around our limbs by the damable Slave-holder. Yet we would not like spoiled children depend
upon her, but upon ourselves and as one means of strengthening ourselves, we should agitate
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the emigration to Canada. I here send you a paragraph which I clipted from the weekly Glob. 1
hope you will publish so that Mr. Williamson may know that men are not chattel here but
reather they are men and if he wants his chattle let him come here after it or his thing. I wants
you to let the whole United States know we are satisfied here because I have seen more Pleasure
since I came here than I saw in the U. S. the 24 years that I served my master. Come Poor dis-
tress men women and come to Canada where colored men are free. Oh how sweet the word do
sound to me yeas when I contemplate of these things, my very flesh creaps my heart thrub when
I think of my beloved friends whom I left in that cursid hole. Oh my God what can I do for them
or shall I do for them. Lord help them. Suffer them to be no longer depressed beneath the Bruat
Creation but may they be looked upon as men made of the Bone and Blood as the Anglo-
Americans. May God in his mercy Give Liberty to all this world. I must close as it am late hour
at night. I Remain your friend in the cause of Liberty and humanity,

JouN H. HILL, A FUGITIVE.

If you know any one who would give me an education write and let me know for I am in want
of it very much.

YouRr wiTi RESPECT,
J. H. H.

If the sentiments in the above letter do not indicate an uncommon degree of natural intel-
ligence, a clear perception of the wrongs of Slavery, and a just appreciation of freedom, where
shall we look for the signs of intellect and manhood?

FOURTH LETTER.
LONGS FOR HIS WIFE—IN HEARING OF THE RETURN OF A FUGITIVE FROM PHILADELPHIA
IS MADE SORROWFUL—HI1S LOVE OF FREEDOM INCREASES, &cC., &C.

ToroNTO, NOVEMBER 12TH, 1853.

My DEAR STILL:—Your letter of the 3th came to hand thursday and also three copes all of
which I was glad to Received they have taken my attention all together Every Time I got them.
I also Rec’d. a letter from my friend Brown. Mr. Brown stated to me that he had heard from
my wife but he did not say what way he heard. I am looking for my wife every day. Yes I want
her to come then I will be better sattisfied. My friend I am a free man and feeles alright about
that matter. I am doing tolrable well in my line of business, and think I will do better after lit-
tle. I hope you all will never stop any of your Brotheran that makes their Escep from the
South but send them on to this Place where they can be free man and woman. We want them
here and not in your State where they can be taken away at any hour. Nay but let him come
here where he can Enjoy the Rights of a human being and not to be trodden under the feet of
men like themselves. All the People that comes here does well. Thanks be to God that I came
to this place. I would like very well to see you all but never do I expect to see you in the United
States. I want you all to come to this land of Liberty where the bondman can be free. Come
one come all come to this place, and I hope my dear friend you will send on here. I shall do
for them as you all done for me when I came on here however I will do the best I can for them
if they can they shall do if they will do, but some comes here that can’t do well because they
make no efford. I hope my friend you will teach them such lessons as Mrs. Moore Give me
before I left your city. I hope she may live a hundred years longer and enjoy good health. May
God bless her for the good cause which she are working in. Mr. Still you ask me to remember
you to Nelson. I will do so when I see him, he are on the lake so is Stewart. I received a letter
to-day for Stewart from your city which letter I will take to him when he comes to the city. He
are not stoping with us at this time. I was very sorry a few days ago when I heard that a man
was taken from your city.
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Send them over here, then let him come here and take them away and I will try to have a
finger in the Pie myself. You said that you had written to my wife ten thousand thanks for
what you have done and what you are willing to do. My friend whenever you hear from my
wife please write to me. Whenever she come to your city please give instruction how to travel.
I wants her to come the faster way. I wish she was here now. I wish she could get a ticket
through to this place. I have mail a paper for you to day.

We have had snow but not to last long. Let me hear from you. My Respect friend Brown. 1
will write more when I have the opportunity. Yours with Respect,

JouN H. HiLL.

P.S. My dear Sir. Last night after I had written the above, and had gone to bed, I heard a
strange voice in the house, Saying to Mr. Myers to come quickly to one of our colod Brotheran
out of the street. We went and found a man a Carpenter laying on the side walk woltun in his
Blood. Done by some unknown Person as yet but if they stay on the earth the law will deteck
them. It is said that party of colord people done it, which party was seen to come out an infame
house.

Mr. Myers have been down to see him and Brought the Sad news that the Poor fellow was
dead. Mr. Scott for Henry Scott was the name, he was a fugitive from Virginia he came here
from Pittsburg Pa. Oh, when I went where he laid what a shock, it taken my Sleep altogether
night. When I got to Sopt his Body was surrounded by the Policeman. The law has taken the
woman in cusidy. I write and also send you a paper of the case when it comes out.

J. H. HiLL.

FIFTH LETTER.
HE REJOICES OVER THE ARRIVAL OF HIS WIFE—BUT AT THE SAME TIME, HIS HEART IS
BLEEDING OVER A DEAR FRIEND WHOM HE HAD PROMISED TO HELP BEFORE HE LEFT SLAVERY.

ToRrRoONTO, DECEMBER 29TH, 1853.

MY DEAR FRIEND:—It affords me a good deel of Pleasure to say that my wife and the Children
have arrived safe in this City. But my wife had very bad luck. She lost her money and the
money that was belonging to the children, the whole amount was 35 dollars. She had to go to
the Niagara falls and Telegraph to me come after her. She got to the falls on Sat’dy and I went
after her on Monday. We saw each other once again after so long an Abstance, you may know
what sort of metting it was, joyful times of corst. My wife are well Satisfied here, and she was
well Pleased during her stay in your city. My Trip to the falls cost Ten Eighty Seven and half.
The things that friend Brown Shipped to me by the Express costed $24 1/4. So you can see fit-
ing out a house Niagara falls and the cost for bringing my things to this place, have got me out
of money, but for all I am a free man.

The weather are very cold at Present, the snow continue to fall though not as deep here as it
is in Boston. The people haves their own Amousements, the weather as it is now, they don’t care
for the snow nor ice, but they are going from Ten A.M. until Twelve P.M. the hous that we have
open don’t take well because we don’t Sell Spirits, which we are trying to avoid if we can.

Mr. Still, I hold in my hand A letter from a friend of South, who calls me to promise that I made
to him before I left. My dear Sir, this letter have made my heart Bleed, since I Received it, he also
desires of me to remember him to his beloved Brethren and then to Pray for him and his dear
friends who are in Slavery. I shall Present his letter to the churches of this city. I forward to your
care for Mrs. Moore, a few weeks ago. Mrs. Hill sends her love to your wife and yourself.

Please to write, I Sincerely hope that our friends from Petersburg have reached your city
before this letter is dated. I must close by saying, that I Sir, remain humble and obedient Servant,

J.H. H.
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SIXTH LETTER.
HE IS NOW EARNESTLY APPEALING IN BEHALF OF A FRIEND IN SLAVERY, WITH A VIEW TO
PROCURING AID AND ASSISTANCE FROM CERTAIN PARTIES, BY WHICH THIS PARTICULAR
FRIEND IN BONDAGE MIGHT BE RESCUED.

ToroNTO, MARCH 8TH, 1854.

MY DEAR FRIEND STILL:—We will once more truble you opon this great cause of freedom, as we
know that you are a man, that are never fatuged in Such a glorious cause. Sir, what I wish to
Say is this. Mr. Forman has Received a letter from his wife dated the 29th ult. She States to him
that She was Ready at any time, and that Everything was Right with her, and she hoped that he
would lose no time in sending for her for she was Ready and awaiting for him. Well friend Still,
we learnt that Mr. Minkens could not bring her the account of her child. We are very sorry to
hear Such News, however, you will please to read this letter with care, as we have learnt that
Minkens Cannot do what we wishes to be done; we perpose another way. There is a white man
that Sale from Richmond to Boston, that man are very Safe, he will bring F’s wife with her
child. So you will do us a favour will take it upon yourself to transcribe from this letter what we
shall write. I. E. this there is a Colored gen. that workes on the basin in R—d this man’s name
is Esue Foster, he can tell Mrs. forman all about this Saleor. So you can place the letter in the
hands of M. to take to forman’s wife, She can read it for herself. She will find Foster at ladlum’s
warehouse on the Basin, and when you write call my name to him and he will trust it. this fos-
ter are a member of the old Baptist Church. When you have done all you can do let us know
what you have done, if you hears anything of my uncle let me know.

SEVENTH LETTER.
HE LAMENTS OVER HIS UNCLE’S FATE, WHO WAS SUFFERING IN A DUNGEON-LIKE PLACE
OF CONCEALMENT DAILY WAITING FOR THE OPPORTUNITY TO ESCAPE.

ToroNTO, MARCH 18TH, 1854.

MR DEAR STILL:—Yours of the 15th Reached on the 11th, found myself and family very well,
and not to delay no time in replying to you, as there was an article in your letter which arti-
cle Roused me very much when I read it; that was you praying to me to be cautious how I write
down South. Be so kind as to tell me in your next letter whether you have at any time appre-
hended any danger in my letters however, in those bond southward; if there have been, allow
me to beg ten thousand pardon before God and man, for I am not design to throw any obsta-
cle in the way of those whom I left in South, but to aide them in every possible way. I have
done as you Requested, that to warn the friends of the dager of writing South. I have told all
you said in yours that Mr. Minkins would be in your city very soon, and you would see what
you could do for me, do you mean or do speak in reference to my dear uncle. I am hopes that
you will use every ifford to get him from the position in which he now stand. I know how he
feels at this time, for I have felt the same when I was a runway. I was bereft of all participa-
tion with my family for nearly nine months, and now that poor fellow are place in same posi-
tion. Oh God help I pray, what a pitty it is that I cannot do him no good, but I sincerely hope
that you will not get fatigued at doing good in such cases, nay, I think other wishes of you,
however, I Say no more on this subject at present, but leave it for you to judge.

On the 13th inst. you made Some Remarks concerning friend Forman’s wife, I am Satisfied
that you will do all you can for her Release from Slavery, but as you said you feels for them,
so do I, and Mr. Foreman comes to me very often to know if I have heard anything from you
concerning his wife, they all comes to for the same.

God Save the Queen. All my letters Southward have passed through your hands with an
exception of one.

JouN H. HiLL.



THE UNDERGROUND RAIL RoAD

EIGHTH LETTER.

DEATH HAS SNATCHED AWAY ONE OF HIS CHILDREN AND HE HAS CAUSE TO MOURN. IN HIS GRIEF HE
RECOUNTS HIS STRUGGLES FOR FREEDOM, AND HIS HAVING TO LEAVE HIS WIFE AND CHILDREN. HE
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAD TO “WORK VERY HARD FOR COMFORTS,” BUT HE DECLARES THAT
HE WOULD NOT “EXCHANGE WITH THE COMFORTS OF TEN THOUSAND SLAVES.”

ToORONTO SEPT 14TH 1854

MY DEAR FRIEND STILL:—this are the first oppertunity that I have had to write you since 1
Recd your letter of the 20th July. there have been sickness and Death in my family since your
letter was Recd. our dear little Child have been taken from us one whom we loved so very
Dear. But the almighty God knows what are best for us all.

Louis Henry Hill, was born in Petersburg Va May 7th 1852. and Died Toronto August 19th
1854 at five o’clock P. M.

Dear Still I could say much about the times and insidince that have taken place since the
coming of that dear little angle jest spoken of. it was 12 months and 3 days from the time that
I took departure of my wife and child to proceed to Richmond to awaite a conveyance up to
the day of his death.

it was Thursday the 13th that I lift Richmond. it was Saturday the 15th that I land to my
great joy in the city of Phila. then I put out for Canada. I arrived in this city on Friday the
30th and to my great satisfaction. I found myself upon Briton’s free land. not only free for the
white man bot for all.

this day 12 months I was not out of the reach the slaveholders, but this 14th day of Sept. 1
am as Free as your President Pearce. only I have not been free so long However the 30th of
the month I will have been free only 12 months.

It is true that I have to work very hard for comfort but I would not exchange with ten thou-
sand slave that are equel with the masters. I am Happy, Happy.

Give love to Mrs. Still. My wife laments her child’s death too much. wil you be so kind as to see
Mr. Brown and ask him to write to me, and if he have heard from Petersburg Va. Yours truely

J. H. HiLL.

NINTH LETTER.
HE IS ANXIOUSLY WAITING FOR THE ARRIVAL OF FRIENDS FROM THE SOUTH.
HINTS THAT SLAVE-HOLDERS WOULD BE VERY UNSAFE IN CANADA, SHOULD THEY
BE FOOLISH ENOUGH TO VISIT THAT COUNTRY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ENTICING SLAVES BACK.

TORONTO, JAN. 19TH 1854.

MY DEAR StiLL:—Your letter of the 16th came to hand just in time for my perpose I perceivs
by your statement that the money have not been to Petersburg at all done just what was right
and I would of sent the money to you at first, but my dear friend I have called upon you for
so many times that I have been ashamed of myself to call any more So you may perceive by
the above written my obligations to you, you said that you had written on to Petersburg, you
have done Right which I believes is your general way of doing your business. the money are
all right I only had to pay a 6d on the Ten dollars. this money was given to by a friend in the
city N. york, the friend was from Richmond Virginia (a white man) the amount was fifteen
dollars, I forward a letter to you yesterday which letter I forgot to date. my friend I wants to
hear from virginia the worst of all things. you know that we expect some freneds on and we
cannot hear any thing from them which makes us uneasy for fear that they have attempt to
come away and been detected. I have ears open at all times, listen at all hours expecting to
hear from them Please to see friend Brown and know from him if he has heard anything from
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our friends, if he have not. tell him write and inquiare into the matter why it is that they have
not come over, then let me hear from you all.

We are going to have a grand concert &c I mean the Abolisnous Socity. I will attend myself
and also my wife if the Lord be willing you will perceive in previous letter that I mension some-
thing concerning Mr Forman’s wife if there be any chance whatever please to proceed, Mr
Foreman sends his love to you Requested you to do all you can to get his wife away from Slavery.

Our best respects to your wife. You promisted me that you would write somthing concern-
ing our arrival in Canada but I suppose you have not had the time as yet, I would be very glad
to read your opinion on that matter

I have notice several articles in the freeman one of the Canada weaklys concerning the
Christiana prisoners respecting Castnor Hanway and also Mr. Rauffman. if I had one hun-
dred dollars to day I would give them five each, however I hope that I may be able to sub-
scribe something for their Relefe. in Regards to the letters have been written from Canada to
the South the letters was not what they thought them to be and if the slave-holders know when
they are doing well they had been keep their side for if they comes over this side of the lake 1
am under the impression they will not go back with somethin that their mother boned them
with whether thiar slaves written for them or not. I know some one here that have written his
master to come after him, but not because he expect to go with him home but because he wants
to retaleate upon his persecutor, but I would be sorry for man that have written for his mas-
ter expecting to return with him because the people here would kill them. Sir I cannot write
enough to express myself so I must close by saying I Remain yours.

Joun H. HiLL.

TENTH LETTER.
GREAT JOY OVER AN ARRIVAL—TWELVE MONTHS PRAYING FOR THE DELIVERANCE OF AN
UNCLE GROANING IN A HIDING-PLACE, WHILE THE SLAVE-HUNTERS ARE DAILY EXPECTED—
STRONG APPEALS FOR AID, &cC., &C.

TORONTO, JANUARY 7TH, 1855.

MY DEAR FRIEND:—It is with much pleasure that I take this opportunity of addressing you
with these few lines hoping when they reeches you they may find yourself and family enjoying
good health as they leaves us at present.

And it is with much happiness that I can say to you that Mrs. Mercer arrived in this city on
yesterday. Mr. Mercer was at my house late in the evening, and I told him that when he went
home if hear anything from Virginia, that he must let me know as soon as possible. He told me
that if he went home and found any news there he would come right back and inform me
thereof. But little did he expect to find his dearest there. You may judge what a meeting there
was with them, and may God grant that there may be some more meetings with our wives and
friends. I had been looking for some one from the old sod for several days, but I was in good
hopes that it would be my poor Uncle. But poor fellow he are yet groaning under the suffer-
ings of a horrid sytam, Expecting every day to Receive his Doom. Oh, God, what shall I do,
or what can I do for him? I have prayed for him more than 12 months, yet he is in that hor-
rid condition. I can never hear anything Directly from him or any of my people.

Once more I appeal to your Humanity. Will you act for him, as if you was in slavery your-
self, and I sincerely believe that he will come out of that condition? Mrs. M. have told me that
she given some directions how he could be goten at, but friend Still, if this conductor should
not be successfull this time, will you mind him of the Poor Slave again. I hope you will as Mrs.
Mercer have told the friend what to do I cannot do more, therefore I must leve it to the Mercy
of God and your Exertion.

The weather have been very mile Ever since the 23rd of Dec. I have thought considerable
about our condition in this country Seeing that the weather was so very faverable to us. I was
thinking a few days ago, that nature had giving us A county & adopted all things Sutable.

You will do me the kindness of telling me in your next whether or not the ten slaves have
been Brought out from N. C.
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I have not hard from Brown for Nine month he have done some very Bad letting me alone,
for what cause I cannot tell. Give my Best Respect to Mr. B. when you see him. I wish very
much to hear from himself and family. You will please to let me hear from you. My wife Joines
me in love to yourself and family.

YOURS MOST RESPECTFULLY,
Joun H. HILL.

P.S. Every fugitive Regreated to hear of the Death of Mrs. Moore. I myself think that there
are no other to take her Place.

YOURs J. H. H.

ELEVENTH LETTER.
[EXTRACT]
REJOICES AT HEARING OF THE SUCCESS OF THE UNDERGROUND RAIL ROAD—INQUIRES
PARTICULARLY AFTER THE “FELLOW” WHO “CUT OFF THE PATROL’S HEAD IN MARYLAND.”

HaAmiLTON, AUuGUST 15TH, 1856.

DEAR FRIEND:—I am very glad to hear that the Underground Rail Road is doing such good
business, but tell me in your next letter if you have seen the heroic fellow that cut off the head
of the Patrol in Maryland. We wants that fellow here, as John Bull has a great deal of fight-
ing to do, and as there is a colored Captain in this city, I would seek to have that fellow
Promoted, Provided he became a soldier.

GREAT RESPECT, JOHN H. HiLL.

P. S.—Please forward the enclosed to Mr. McCray.

TWELFTH LETTER.
[EXTRACT.]
BELIEVES IN PRAYING FOR THE SLAVE—BUT THINKS “FIRE AND SWORD” WOULD BE
MORE EFFECTIVE WITH SLAVE-HOLDERS.

HAMILTON, JAN. 5TH, 1857.

MR. STILL:—Our Pappers contains long details of insurrectionary movements among the
slaves at the South and one paper adds that a great Nomber of Generals, Captains with other
officers had being arrested. At this day four years ago I left Petersburg for Richmond to meet
the man whom called himself my master, but he wanted money worser that day than I do this
day, he took me to sell me, he could not have done a better thing for me for I intended to leave
any how by the first convaiance. I hard some good Prayers put up for the suffers on last
Sunday evening in the Baptist Church. Now friend still I beleve that Prayers affects great
good, but I beleve that the fire and sword would affect more good in this case. Perhaps this
is not your thoughts, but I must acknowledge this to be my Polacy. The world are being
turned upside down, and I think we might as well take an active part in it as not. We must
have something to do as other people, and I hope this moment among the Slaves are the begin-
ning. I wants to see something go on while I live.

YOURSs TRULY, J. H. HILL.
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THIRTEENTH LETTER.
SAD TIDINGS FROM RICHMOND—QOF THE ARREST OF A CAPTAIN
WITH SLAVES ON BOARD AS UNDERGROUND RAIL ROAD PASSENGERS.

HawmirToN, JUNE 5TH, 1858.

DEAR FRIEND STILL:—I have just heard that our friend Capt. B. have being taken Prisoner in
Virginia with slaves on board of his vessel. I hard this about an hour ago. the Person told me
of this said he read it in the newspaper, if this be so it is awfull. You will be so kind as to send
me some information. Send me one of the Virginia Papers. Poor fellow if they have got him,
I am sorry, sorry to my heart. I have not heard from my Uncle for a long time if have heard
or do hear anything from him at any time you will oblige me by writing. I wish you to inquire
of Mr. Anderson’s friends (if you know any of them), if they have heard anything from him
since he was in your city. I have written to him twice since he was here according to his own
directions, but never received an answer. I wants to hear from my mother very much, but
cannot hear one word. You will present my best regards to the friend. Mrs. Hill is quite sick.

YOURS TRULY, J. H. HILL.

P. S.—I have not received the Anti-Slavery Standard for several weeks. Please forward any
news relative to the Capt.

J.H. H.
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WILLIAM AND ELLEN CRAFT

FEMALE SLAVE IN MALE ATTIRE, FLEEING AS A PLANTER,
WITH HER HUSBAND AS HER BODY SERVANT.

WILLIAM CRAFT ELLEN CRAFT

A quarter of a century ago, William and Ellen Craft were slaves in the State of Georgia.
With them, as with thousands of others, the desire to be free was very strong. For this jewel
they were willing to make any sacrifice, or to endure any amount of suffering. In this state of
mind they commenced planning. After thinking of various ways that might be tried, it
occurred to William and Ellen, that one might act the part of master and the other the part
of servant.

Ellen being fair enough to pass for white, of necessity would have to be transformed into a
young planter for the time being. All that was needed, however, to make this important
change was that she should be dressed elegantly in a fashionable suit of male attire, and have
her hair cut in the style usually worn by young planters. Her profusion of dark hair offered a
fine opportunity for the change. So far this plan looked very tempting. But it occurred to them
that Ellen was beardless. After some mature reflection, they came to the conclusion that this
difficulty could be very readily obviated by having the face muffed up as though the young
planter was suffering badly with the face or toothache; thus they got rid of this trouble.
Straightway, upon further reflection, several other very serious difficulties stared them in the
face. For instance, in traveling, they knew they would be under the necessity of stopping
repeatedly at hotels, and that the custom of registering would have to be conformed to, unless
some very good excuse could be given for not doing so.

Here they again thought much over matters, and wisely concluded that the young man had
better assume the attitude of a gentleman very much indisposed. He might have his right arm
placed carefully in a sling; that would be a sufficient excuse for not registering, etc. Then he
must be a little lame, with a nice cane in the left hand; he must have large green spectacles
over his eyes, and withal he must be very hard of hearing and dependent on his faithful ser-
vant (as was no uncommon thing with slave-holders), to look after all his wants.

William was just the man to act this part. To begin with, he was very “likely-looking;” smart,
active and exceedingly attentive to his young master—indeed, he was almost eyes, ears,
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hands and feet for him. William knew that this would please the slave-holders. The young
planter would have nothing to do but hold himself subject to his ailments and put on a bold
air of superiority; he was not to deign to notice anybody. If, while traveling, gentlemen, either
politely or rudely, should venture to scrape acquaintance with the young planter, in his deaf-
ness he was to remain mute, the servant was to explain. In every instance when this occurred,
as it actually did, the servant was fully equal to the emergency—none dreaming of the dis-
guises in which the Underground Rail Road passengers were traveling.

They stopped at a first-class hotel in Charleston, where the young planter and his body ser-
vant were treated, as the house was wont to treat the chivalry. They stopped also at a simi-
lar hotel in Richmond, and with the like results.

They knew that they must pass through Baltimore, but they did not know the obstacles that
they would have to surmount in the Monumental City. They proceeded to the depot in the
usual manner, and the servant asked for tickets for his master and self. Of course the master
could have a ticket, but “bonds will have to be entered before you can get a ticket,” said the
ticket master. “It is the rule of this office to require bonds for all negroes applying for tickets
to go North, and none but gentlemen of well-known responsibility will be taken,” further
explained the ticket master.

The servant replied, that he knew “nothing about that”—that he was “simply traveling with
his young master to take care of him—he being in a very delicate state of health, so much so,
that fears were entertained that he might not be able to hold out to reach Philadelphia, where
he was hastening for medical treatment,” and ended his reply by saying, “my master can’t be
detained.” Without further parley, the ticket master very obligingly waived the old “rule,” and
furnished the requisite tickets. The mountain being thus removed, the young planter and his
faithful servant were safely in the cars for the city of Brotherly Love.

Scarcely had they arrived on free soil when the rheumatism departed—the right arm was
unslung—the toothache was gone—the beardless face was unmuffled—the deaf heard and
spoke—the blind saw—and the lame leaped as an hart, and in the presence of a few aston-
ished friends of the slave, the facts of this unparalleled Underground Rail Road feat were fully
established by the most unquestionable evidence.

The constant strain and pressure on Ellen’s nerves, however, had tried her severely, so
much so, that for days afterwards, she was physically very much prostrated, although joy and
gladness beamed from her eyes, which bespoke inexpressible delight within.

Never can the writer forget the impression made by their arrival. Even now, after a lapse
of nearly a quarter of a century, it is easy to picture them in a private room, surrounded by a
few friends—Ellen in her fine suit of black, with her cloak and high-heeled boots, looking, in
every respect, like a young gentleman; in an hour after having dropped her male attire, and
assumed the habiliments of her sex the feminine only was visible in every line and feature of
her structure.

Her husband, William, was thoroughly colored, but was a man of marked natural abilities,
of good manners, and full of pluck, and possessed of perceptive faculties very large.

It was necessary, however, in those days, that they should seek a permanent residence,
where their freedom would be more secure than in Philadelphia; therefore they were advised
to go to headquarters, directly to Boston. There they would be safe, it was supposed, as it had
then been about a generation since a fugitive had been taken back from the old Bay State,
and through the incessant labors of William Lloyd Garrison, the great pioneer, and his faith-
ful coadjutors, it was conceded that another fugitive slave case could never be tolerated on the
free soil of Massachusetts. So to Boston they went.

On arriving, the warm hearts of abolitionists welcomed them heartily, and greeted and
cheered them without let or hindrance. They did not pretend to keep their coming a secret, or
hide it under a bushel; the story of their escape was heralded broadcast over the country—
North and South, and indeed over the civilized world. For two years or more, not the slight-
est fear was entertained that they were not just as safe in Boston as if they had gone to
Canada. But the day the Fugitive Bill passed, even the bravest abolitionist began to fear that
a fugitive slave was no longer safe anywhere under the stars and stripes, North or South, and
that William and Ellen Craft were liable to be captured at any moment by Georgia slave
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hunters. Many abolitionists counselled resistance to the death at all hazards. Instead of run-
ning to Canada, fugitives generally armed themselves and thus said, “Give me liberty or give
me death.”

William and Ellen Craft believed it was their duty, as citizens of Massachusetts, to observe
a more legal and civilized mode of conforming to the marriage rite than had been permitted
them in slavery, and as Theodore Parker had shown himself a very warm friend of their’s,
they agreed to have their wedding over again according to the laws of a free State. After per-
forming the ceremony, the renowned and fearless advocate of equal rights (Theodore Parker),
presented William with a revolver and a dirk-knife, counselling him to use them manfully in
defence of his wife and himself, if ever an attempt should be made by his owners or anybody
else to re-enslave them.

But, notwithstanding all the published declarations made by abolitionists and fugitives,
to the effect, that slave-holders and slave-catchers in visiting Massachusetts in pursuit of
their runaway property, would be met by just such weapons as Theodore Parker presented
William with, to the surprise of all Boston, the owners of William and Ellen actually had
the effrontery to attempt their recapture under the Fugitive Slave Law. How it was done,
and the results, taken from the Old Liberator, (William Lloyd Garrison’s organ), we copy as
follows:

FROM THE “LIBERATOR,” Nov. 1., 1850.

SLAVE-HUNTERS IN BOSTON.

Our city, for a week past, has been thrown into a state of intense excitement by the appear-
ance of two prowling villains, named Hughes and Knight, from Macon, Georgia, for the pur-
pose of seizing William and Ellen Craft, under the infernal Fugitive Slave Bill, and carrying
them back to the hell of Slavery. Since the day of 76, there has not been such a popular
demonstration on the side of human freedom in this region. The humane and patriotic conta-
gion has infected all classes. Scarcely any other subject has been talked about in the streets,
or in the social circle. On Thursday, of last week, warrants for the arrest of William and Ellen
were issued by Judge Levi Woodbury, but no officer has yet been found ready or bold enough
to serve them. In the meantime, the Vigilance Committee, appointed at the Faneuil Hall
meeting, has not been idle. Their number has been increased to upwards of a hundred “good
men and true,” including some thirty or forty members of the bar; and they have been in con-
stant session, devising every legal method to baffle the pursuing bloodhounds, and relieve the
city of their hateful presence. On Saturday placards were posted up in all directions, announc-
ing the arrival of these slave-hunters, and describing their persons. On the same day, Hughes
and Knight were arrested on the charge of slander against William Craft. The Chronotype
says, the damages being laid at $10,000; bail was demanded in the same sum and was
promptly furnished. By whom? is the question. An immense crowd was assembled in front of
the Sheriff’s office, while the bail matter was being arranged. The reporters were not admit-
ted. It was only known that Watson Freeman, Esq., who once declared his readiness to hang
any number of negroes remarkably cheap, came in, saying that the arrest was a shame, all a
humbug, the trick of the damned abolitionists, and proclaimed his readiness to stand bail.
John H. Pearson was also sent for, and came—the same John H. Pearson, merchant and
Southern packet agent, who immortalized himself by sending back, on the 10th of September,
1846, in the bark Niagara, a poor fugitive slave, who came secreted in the brig Ottoman, from
New Orleans—being himself judge, jury and executioner, to consign a fellow-being to a life of
bondage—in obedience to the law of a slave State, and in violation of the law of his own. This
same John H. Pearson, not contented with his previous infamy, was on hand. There is a story
that the slave-hunters have been his table-guests also, and whether he bailed them or not, we
don’t know. What we know is, that soon after Pearson came out from the back room, where he
and Knight and the Sheriff had been closeted, the Sheriff said that Knight was bailed—he
would not say by whom. Knight being looked after, was not to be found. He had slipped out
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through a back door, and thus cheated the crowd of the pleasure of greeting him—possibly
with that rough and ready affection which Barclay’s brewers bestowed upon Haynau. The
escape was very fortunate every way. Hughes and Knight have since been twice arrested and
put under bonds of $10,000 (making $30,000 in all), charged with a conspiracy to kidnap and
abduct William Craft, a peaceable citizen of Massachusetts, etc. Bail was entered by Hamilton
Willis, of Willis & Co., 25 State street, and Patrick Riley, U.S. Deputy Marshal.

The following (says the Chronotype), is a verbatim et literatim copy of the letter sent by
Knight to Craft, to entice him to the U.S. Hotel, in order to kidnap him. It shows, that the
school-master owes Knight more “service and labor” than it is possible for Craft to:

BosTton, Oct. 22, 1850, 11 OcLK P.M.

WM. CRAFT—Sir—I have to leave so Eirley in the morning that I could not call according to
promis, so if you want me to carry a letter home with me, you must bring it to the United
States Hotel to morrow and leave it in box 44, or come your self to morro eavening after tea
and bring it. let me no if you come your self by sending a note to box 44 U.S. Hotel so that I
may know whether to wate after tea or not by the Bearer. If your wife wants to see me you
cold bring her with you if you come your self.

JonN KNIGHT.

P.S. I shall leave for home eirley a Thursday moring.
J.K.

At a meeting of colored people, held in Belknap Street Church, on Friday evening, the fol-
lowing resolutions were unanimously adopted:

Resolved, That God willed us free; man willed us slaves. We will as God wills; God’s will be done.

Resolved, That our oft repeated determination to resist oppression is the same now as ever,
and we pledge ourselves, at all hazards, to resist unto death any attempt upon our liberties.

Resolved, That as South Carolina seizes and imprisons colored seamen from the North,
under the plea that it is to prevent insurrection and rebellion among her colored population,
the authorities of this State, and city in particular, be requested to lay hold of, and put in
prison, immediately, any and all fugitive slave-hunters who may be found among us, upon the
same ground, and for similar reasons.

Spirited addresses, of a most emphatic type, were made by Messrs. Remond, of Salem,
Roberts, Nell, and Allen, of Boston, and Davis, of Plymouth. Individuals and highly
respectable committees of gentlemen have repeatedly waited upon these Georgia miscreants,
to persuade them to make a speedy departure from the city. After promising to do so, and
repeatedly falsifying their word, it is said that they left on Wednesday afternoon, in the
express train for New York, and thus (says the Chronotype), they have “gone off with their
ears full of fleas, to fire the solemn word for the dissolution of the Union!”

Telegraphic intelligence is received, that President Fillmore has announced his determination
to sustain the Fugitive Slave Bill, at all hazards. Let him try! The fugitives, as well as the colored
people generally, seem determined to carry out the spirit of the resolutions to their fullest extent.

ELLEN first received information that the slave-hunters from Georgia were after her
through Mrs. Geo. S. Hilliard, of Boston, who had been a good friend to her from the day of
her arrival from slavery. How Mrs. Hilliard obtained the information, the impression it made
on Ellen, and where she was secreted, the following extract of a letter written by Mrs.
Hilliard, touching the memorable event, will be found deeply interesting:

“In regard to William and Ellen Craft, it is true that we received her at our house when the
first warrant under the act of eighteen hundred and fifty was issued.
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Dr. Bowditch called upon us to say that the warrant must be for William and Ellen, as they
were the only fugitives here known to have come from Georgia, and the Dr. asked what we
could do. I went to the house of the Rev. F. T. Gray, on Mt. Vernon street, where Ellen was
working with Miss Dean, an upholsteress, a friend of ours, who had told us she would teach
Ellen her trade. I proposed to Ellen to come and do some work for me, intending not to alarm
her. My manner, which I supposed to be indifferent and calm, betrayed me, and she threw
herself into my arms, sobbing and weeping. She, however, recovered her composure as soon
as we reached the street, and was very firm ever after.

My husband wished her, by all means, to be brought to our house, and to remain under his
protection, saying, ‘I am perfectly willing to meet the penalty, should she be found here, but
will never give her up.’” The penalty, you remember, was six months’ imprisonment and a
thousand dollars fine. William Craft went, after a time, to Lewis Hayden. He was at first, as
Dr. Bowditch told us, ‘barricaded in his shop on Cambridge street.” I saw him there, and he
said, ‘Ellen must not be left at your house.” “Why? William,” said I, ‘do you think we would
give her up?’ ‘Never,” said he, ‘but Mr. Hilliard is not only our friend, but he is a U. S.
Commissioner, and should Ellen be found in his house, he must resign his office, as well as
incur the penalty of the law, and I will not subject a friend to such a punishment for the sake
of our safety.” Was not this noble, when you think how small was the penalty that any one
could receive for aiding slaves to escape, compared to the fate which threatened them in case
they were captured? William C. made the same objection to having his wife taken to Mr. Ellis
Gray Loring’s, he also being a friend and a Commissioner.”

This deed of humanity and Christian charity is worth to be commemorated and classed with
the act of the good Samaritan, as the same spirit is shown in both cases. Often was Mrs.
Hilliard’s house an asylum for fugitive slaves.

After the hunters had left the city in dismay, and the storm of excitement had partially sub-
sided, the friends of William and Ellen concluded that they had better seek a country where
they would not be in daily fear of slave-catchers, backed by the Government of the United
States. They were, therefore, advised to go to Great Britain. Outfits were liberally provided
for them, passages procured, and they took their departure for a habitation in a foreign land.

Much might be told concerning the warm reception they met with from the friends of
humanity on every hand, during a stay in England of nearly a score of years, but we feel
obliged to make the following extract suffice:

EXTRACT OF A LETTER FROM WM. FARMER, ESQ., OF LONDON, TO WM. LLOYD
GARRISON, JUNE 26, 1851—“FUGITIVE SLAVES AT THE GREAT EXHIBITION.”

Fortunately, we have, at the present moment, in the British Metropolis, some specimens of
what were once American “chattels personal,” in the persons of William and Ellen Craft, and
William W. Brown, and their friends resolved that they should be exhibited under the world’s
huge glass case, in order that the world might form its opinion of the alleged mental inferior-
ity of the African race, and their fitness or unfitness for freedom. A small party of anti-
slavery friends was accordingly formed to accompany the fugitives through the Exhibition.
Mr. and Mrs. Estlin, of Bristol, and a lady friend, Mr. and Mrs. Richard Webb, of Dublin,
and a son and daughter, Mr. McDonnell, (a most influential member of the Executive
Committee of the National Reform Association—one of our unostentatious, but highly effi-
cient workers for reform in this country, and whose public and private acts, if you were
acquainted with, you would feel the same esteem and affection for him as is felt towards him
by Mr. Thompson, myself and many others)—these ladies and gentlemen, together with
myself, met at Mr. Thompson’s house, and, in company with Mrs. Thompson, and Miss
Amelia Thompson, the Crafts and Brown, proceeded from thence to the Exhibition. Saturday
was selected, as a day upon which the largest number of the aristocracy and wealthy classes
attend the Crystal Palace, and the company was, on this occasion, the most distinguished that
had been gathered together within its walls since its opening day. Some fifteen thousand,
mostly of the upper classes, were there congregated, including the Queen, Prince Albert, and
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the royal children, the anti-slavery Duchess of Sutherland, (by whom the fugitives were evi-
dently favorably regarded), the Duke of Wellington, the Bishops of Winchester and St.
Asaph, a large number of peers, peeresses, members of Parliament, merchants and bankers,
and distinguished men from almost all parts of the world, surpassing, in variety of tongue,
character and costume, the description of the population of Jerusalem on the day of
Pentecost—a season of which it is hoped the Great Exhibition will prove a type, in the copi-
ous outpouring of the holy spirit of brotherly union, and the consequent diffusion, through-
out the world, of the anti-slavery gospel of good will to all men.

In addition to the American exhibitors, it so happened that the American visitors were par-
ticularly numerous, among whom the experienced eyes of Brown and the Crafts enabled them
to detect slave-holders by dozens. Mr. McDonnell escorted Mrs. Craft, and Mrs. Thompson;
Miss Thompson, at her own request, took the arm of Wm. Wells Brown, whose companion she
elected to be for the day; Wm. Craft walked with Miss Amelia Thompson and myself. This
arrangement was purposely made in order that there might be no appearance of patronizing
the fugitives, but that it might be shown that we regarded them as our equals, and honored
them for their heroic escape from Slavery. Quite contrary to the feeling of ordinary visitors,
the American department was our chief attraction. Upon arriving at Powers’ Greek Slave,
our glorious anti-slavery friend, Punch’s ‘Virginia Slave’ was produced. I hope you have seen
this production of our great humorous moralist. It is an admirably-drawn figure of a female
slave in chains, with the inscription beneath, ‘The Virginia Slave, a companion for Powers’
Greek Slave.” The comparison of the two soon drew a small crowd, including several
Americans, around and near us. Although they refrained from any audible expression of feel-
ing, the object of the comparison was evidently understood and keenly felt. It would not have
been prudent in us to have challenged, in words, an anti-slavery discussion in the World’s
Convention; but everything that we could with propriety do was done to induce them to break
silence upon the subject. We had no intention, verbally, of taking the initiative in such a dis-
cussion; we confined ourselves to speaking at them, in order that they might be led to speak
to us; but our efforts were of no avail. The gauntlet, which was unmistakably thrown down
by our party, the Americans were too wary to take up. We spoke among each other of the
wrongs of Slavery; it was in vain. We discoursed freely upon the iniquity of a professedly
“Christian Republic holding three millions of its population in cruel and degrading bondage;
you might as well have preached to the winds. Wm. Wells Brown took ‘Punch’s Virginia Slave’
and deposited it within the enclosure by the ‘Greek Slave,” saying audibly, ‘As an American
fugitive slave, I place this ‘Virginia Slave’ by the side of the ‘Greek Slave,” as its most fitting
companion.’ Not a word, or reply, or remonstrance from Yankee or Southerner. We had not,
however, proceeded many steps from the place before the “Virginia slave’ was removed. We
returned to the statue, and stood near the American by whom it had been taken up, to give
him an opportunity of making any remarks he chose to upon the matter. Whatever were his
feelings, his policy was to keep his lips closed. If he had felt that the act was wrongful, would
he not have appealed to the sense of justice of the British bystanders, who are always ready
to resist an insult offered to a foreigner in this country? If it was an insult, why not resent it,
as became high-spirited Americans? But no; the chivalry of the South tamely allowed itself to
be plucked by the beard; the garrulity of the North permitted itself to be silenced by three
fugitive slaves. ....... We promenaded the Exhibition between six and seven hours, and vis-
ited nearly every portion of the vast edifice. Among the thousands whom we met in our per-
ambulations, who dreamed of any impropriety in a gentleman of character and standing, like
Mr. McDonnell, walking arm-in-arm with a colored woman; or an elegant and accomplished
young lady, like Miss Thompson (daughter of the Hon. George Thompson, M. C.), becoming
the promenading companion of a colored man? Did the English peers or peeresses? Not the
most aristocratic of them. Did the representatives of any other country have their notions of
propriety shocked by the matter? None but Americans. To see the arm of a beautiful English
young lady passed through that of ‘a nigger,” taking ices and other refreshments with him,
upon terms of the most perfect equality, certainly was enough to ‘rile,” and evidently did ‘rile’
the slave-holders who beheld it; but there was no help for it. Even the New York Broadway
bullies would not have dared to utter a word of insult, much less lift a finger against Wm.
Wells Brown, when walking with his fair companion in the World’s Exhibition. It was a cir-
cumstance not to be forgotten by these Southern Bloodhounds. Probably for the first time in
their lives, they felt themselves thoroughly muzzled; they dared not even to bark, much less
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bite. Like the meanest curs, they had to sneak through the Crystal Palace, unnoticed and
uncared for; while the victims who had been rescued from their jaws were warmly greeted by
visitors from all parts of the country.

Brown and the Crafts have paid several other visits to the Great Exhibition, in one of
which, Wm. Craft succeeded in getting some Southerners “out” upon the Fugitive Slave
Bill, respecting which a discussion was held between them in the American department.
Finding themselves worsted at every point, they were compelled to have recourse to lying,
and unblushingly denied that the bill contained the provisions which Craft alleged it did.
Craft took care to inform them who and what he was. He told them that there had been
too much information upon that measure diffused in England for lying to conceal them. He
has subsequently met the same parties, who, with contemptible hypocrisy, treated “the
nigger” with great respect.

In England the Crafts were highly respected. While under her British Majesty’s protection,
Ellen became the mother of several children, (having had none under the stars and stripes).
These they spared no pains in educating for usefulness in the world. Some two years since
William and Ellen returned with two of their children to the United States, and after visiting
Boston and other places, William concluded to visit Georgia, his old home, with a view of see-
ing what inducement war had opened up to enterprise, as he had felt a desire to remove his
family thither, if encouraged. Indeed he was prepared to purchase a plantation, if he found
matters satisfactory. This visit evidently furnished the needed encouragement, judging from
the fact that he did purchase a plantation somewhere in the neighborhood of Savannah, and
is at present living there with his family.

The portraits of William and Ellen represent them at the present stage of life, (as citizens
of the U. S.)—of course they have greatly changed in appearance from what they were when
they first fled from Georgia. Obviously the Fugitive Slave Law in its crusade against William
and Ellen Craft, reaped no advantages, but on the contrary, liberty was greatly the gainer.
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WILLIAM LLOYD GARRISON LEWIS TAPPAN

EMINENT ANTI-SLAVERY MEN

WILLIAM H. FURNESS, D. D.

Among the Abolitionists of Pennsylvania no man stands higher than Dr. Furness; and no
anti-slavery minister enjoys more universal respect. For more than thirty years he bore faith-
ful witness for the black man; in season and out of season contending for his rights. When
others deserted the cause he stood firm; when associates in the ministry were silent he spoke
out. They defined their position by declaring themselves “as much opposed to slavery as ever,
but without sympathy for the abolitionists.” He defined his by showing himself more opposed
to slavery than ever, and fraternizing with the most hated and despised anti-slavery people.
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Dr. Furness came into the cause when it was in its infancy, and had few adherents. From that
time till the day of its triumph he was one with it, sharing in all its trials and vicissitudes. In
the operations of the Vigilance Committee he took the liveliest interest. Though not in form a
member he was one of its chief co-laborers. He brought it material aid continually, and was one
of its main reliances for outside support. His quick sympathies were easily touched and when
touched were sure to prompt him to corresponding action. He would listen with moistened eyes
to a tale of outrage, and go away saying never a word. But the story of wrong would work upon
him; and through him upon others. His own feelings were communicated to his friends, and his
friends would send gifts to the Committee’s treasury. A wider spread sympathy would manifest
itself in the community, and the general interests of the cause be visibly promoted. It was in the
latter respect, that of moral co-operation, that Dr. Furness’s services were most valuable. After
hearing a harrowing recital, whether he would or not, it became the burden of his next Sunday’s
sermon. Abundant proof of this may be found in his printed discourses. Take the following as an
illustration. It is an extract from a sermon delivered on the 29th of May, 1854, a period when
the slave oligarchy was at the height of its power and was supported at the North by the most
violent demonstrations of sympathy. The text was, “Feed my Lambs:”

“And now brothers, sisters, children, give me your hearts, listen with a will to what I have
to say. As heaven is my witness, I would not utter one word save for the dear love of Christ
and of God, and the salvation of your own souls. Does it require any violent effort of the mind
to suppose Christ to address each one of us personally the same question that He put to Peter,
‘Lovest thou me?” * * * And at the hearing of His brief command, ‘Feed my lambs,’ so simple,
so direct, so unqualified, are we prompted like the teacher of the law who, when Christ bade
him love his neighbor as himself, asked, ‘And who is my neighbor?’ and in the parable of the
good Samaritan, received an answer that the Samaritans whom he despised, just as we
despise the African, was his neighbor, are we prompted in like manner to ask, ‘Who are the
lambs of Christ? Who are His lambs? Behold that great multitude, more than three millions
of men and feeble women and children, wandering on our soil; no not wandering, but chained
down, not allowed to stir a step at their own free will, crushed and hunted with all the power
of one of the mightiest nations that the world has yet seen, wielded to keep them down in the
depths of the deepest degradation into which human beings can be plunged. These, then that
we despise, are our neighbors, the poor stricken lambs of Christ.

To cast one thought towards them, may well cause us to bow down our heads in the very
dust with shame. No wonder that professing to love Christ and his religion, we do not like to
hear them spoken of; for so far from feeding the lambs of Christ, we are exciting the whole
associated power of this land, to keep them from being fed. ‘Feed my lambs.” We might feed
them with fraternal sympathy, with hope, with freedom, the imperishable bread of Heaven.
We might lead them into green pastures and still waters, into the glorious liberty wherewith
Christ died to make all men free, the liberty of the children of God. We might secure to them
the exercise of every sacred affection and faculty, wherewith the Creator has endowed them.
But we do none of those things. We suffer this great flock of the Lord Jesus to be treated as
chattels, bought and sold, like beasts of burden, hunted and lacerated by dogs and wolves. I
say we, we of these Free Northern communities, because it is by our allowance, signified as
effectually by silence, as by active co-operation, that such things are. They could continue so,
scarcely an hour, were not the whole moral, religious and physical power of the North pledged
to their support. Are we not in closest league and union with those who claim and use the
right to buy and sell human beings, God’s poor, the lambs of Christ, a union, which we imag-
ine brings us in as much silver and gold as compensates for the sacrifice of our humanity and
manhood? Nay, are we not under a law to do the base work of bloodhounds, hunting the pant-
ing fugitives for freedom? I utter no word of denunciation. There is no need. For facts that
have occurred only within the last week, transcend all denunciation. Only a few hours ago,
there was a man with his two sons, hurried back into the inhuman bondage, from which they
had just escaped, and that man, the brother, and those two sons, the nephews of a colored cler-
gyman of New York, of such eminence in the New School Presbyterian Church, that he has
received the honors of a European University, and has acted as Moderator in one of the
Presbyteries of the same Church, when held in the city where he resides. Almost at the very
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moment the poor fugitive with his children, were dragged through our city, the General
Assembly of that very branch of the Presbyterian Church, now in session here, after dis-
cussing for days the validity of Roman Catholic baptism, threw out as inexpedient to be dis-
cussed, the subject of that great wrong which was flinging back into the agony of Slavery, a
brother of one of their own ordained ministers, and could not so much as breathe a word of
condemnation against the false and cruel deed which has just been consummated at the capi-
tol of the nation.

When such facts are occurring in the midst of us, we cannot be guiltless concerning the
lambs of Christ. It is we, we who make up the public opinion of the North, we who consent
that these free States shall be the hunting-ground, where these, our poor brothers and sis-
ters, are the game; it is we that withhold from them the bread of life, the inalienable rights
of man. As we withhold these blessings, so is it in our power to bestow them. The sheep then
that Christ commands us, as we love Him, to feed, are those who are famishing for the lack
of the food which it is in our power to supply. And we can help to feed and relieve and liber-
ate them, by giving our hearty sympathy to the blessed cause of their emancipation, to the
abolition of the crying injustice with which they are treated, by uttering our earnest protest
against the increasing and flagrant outrages of the oppressor, by withholding all aid and
countenance from the work of oppression.”

To say that Dr. Furness, in his pleadings for the slave, was “instant in season and out of sea-
son,” is not to exaggerate. So palpably was this true, that even some of his sympathizing
friends intimated to him, that his zeal carried him beyond proper bounds, and that his dis-
courses were needlessly reiterative. To these friends,—who, it is needless to say, did not fully
comprehend the breadth and bearing of the question,—he would reply as he did in the fol-
lowing extract from a sermon delivered soon after the one above quoted:

“Again and again, I have had it said to me, with apparently the most perfect simplicity,
‘Why do you keep saying so much about the slaves? Do you imagine that there is one among
your hearers who does not agree with you? We all know that Slavery is very wrong. What is
the use of harping upon this subject Sunday after Sunday? We all feel about it just as you do.’
‘Feel about it just as I do.” Very likely, my friends. It is very possible that you all feel as much,
and that many of you feel about it more than I do. God knows that my regret always has been
not that I feel so much, but that I do not feel more. Would to Heaven that neither you nor I
could eat or sleep for pity, pity for our poor down-trodden brothers and sisters. But the thing
to which I implore your attention now, is, not what we know and feel, but the delusion which
we are under, in confounding knowing with doing, in fancying that we are working to abolish
Slavery because we know that it is wrong. This is what I would have you now to consider, the
deception that we practise on ourselves, the dangerous error into which we fall, when we pass
off the knowledge of our duty for the performance of it. These are two very distinct things. If
you know what is right, happy are ye if ye do it.

Observe, my friends, what it is to which I am now entreating your consideration. It is not
the wrongs nor the rights of the oppressed upon which I am now discoursing. It is our own
personal exposure to a most serious mistake. It is a danger, which threatens our own souls,
to which I would that our eyes should be open and on the watch.

And here, by the way, let me say that one great reason why I refer as often as I do, to that
great topic of the day, which, in one shape or another, is continually shaking the land and
marking the age in which we live, is not merely the righting of the wronged, but the instruc-
tion, the moral enlightenment, the religious edification of our own hearts, which this momen-
tous topic affords. To me this subject involves infinitely more than a mere question of
humanity. Its political bearing is the very least and most superficial part of it, scarcely worth
noticing in comparison with its moral and religious relations. Once, deterred by its outside,
political aspect, I shunned it as many do still, but the more it has pressed itself on my atten-
tion, the more I have considered it—the more and more manifest has it become to me, that it
is a subject full of light and of guidance, of warning and inspiration for the individual soul. It
is the most powerful means of grace and salvation appointed in the providence of Heaven, for
the present day and generation, more religious than churches and Sabbaths. It is full of ser-
mons. It is a perfect gospel, a whole Bible of mind-enlightening, heart-cleansing, soul-saving
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truth. How much light has it thrown for me on the page of the New Testament! What a pro-
found significance has it disclosed in the precepts and parables of Jesus Christ! How do His
words burst out with a new meaning! How does it help us to appreciate His trials and the
Godlike spirit with which He bore them!”

The dark winter of 1860 broke gloomily over all abolitionists; perhaps upon none did it press
more heavily, than upon the small band in Philadelphia. Situated as that city is, upon the
very edge of Slavery, and socially bound as it was, by ties of blood or affinity with the slave-
holders of the South, to all human foresight it would assuredly be the first theatre of blood-
shed in the coming deadly struggle. As Dr. Furness said in his sermon on old John Brown:
“Out of the grim cloud that hangs over the South, a bolt has darted, and blood has flowed, and
the place where the lightning struck, is wild with fear.” The return stroke we all felt must
soon follow, and Philadelphia, we feared, would be selected as the spot where Slavery would
make its first mortal onslaught, and the abolitionists there, the first victims. Dr. Furness had
taken part in the public meeting held on the day of John Brown’s execution, to offer prayers
for the heroic soul that was then passing away, and had gone with two or three others, to the
rail-road station, to receive the martyr’s body, when it was brought from the gallows by Mr.
(afterwards General) Tyndale and Mr. McKim, and it was generally feared that he and his
church would receive the brunt of Slavery’s first blow. The air was thick with vague appre-
hension and rumor, so much so, that some of Dr. Furness’s devoted parishioners, who followed
his abolitionism but not his non-resistance, came armed to church, uncertain what an hour
might bring forth, or in what shape of mob violence or assassination the blow would fall. Few
of Dr. Furness’s hearers will forget his sermon of December 16, 1860, so full was it of prophetic
warning, and saddened by the thought of the fate which might be in store for him and his con-
gregation. It was printed in the “Evening Bulletin,” and made a deep impression on the pub-
lic outside of his own church, and was reprinted in full, in the Boston “Atlas.”

“But the trouble cannot be escaped. It must come. But we can put it off. By annihilating free
speech; by forbidding the utterance of a word in the pulpit and by the press, for the rights of
man; by hurling back into the jaws of oppression, the fugitive gasping for his sacred liberty;
by recognizing the right of one man to buy and sell other men; by spreading the blasting curse
of despotism over the whole soil of the nation, you may allay the brutal frenzy of a handful of
southern slave-masters; you may win back the cotton States to cease from threatening you
with secession, and to plant their feet upon your necks, and so evade the trouble that now
menaces us. Then you may live on the few years that are left you, and perhaps—it is not cer-
tain—we may be permitted to make a little more money and die in our beds. But no, friends,
I am mistaken. We cannot put the trouble off. Or, we put it off in its present shape, only that
it may take another and more terrible form. If, to get rid of the present alarm, we concede all
that makes it worth while to live—and nothing less will avail—perhaps those who can delib-
erately make such a concession, will not feel the degradation, but, stripped of all honor and
manhood, they may eat as heartily and sleep as soundly as ever. But the degradation is not
the less, but the greater, for our unconsciousness of it. The trouble which we shall then bring
upon ourselves, is a trouble in comparison with which the loss of all things but honor is a glo-
rious gain, and violent death for right’s sake on the scaffold, or by the hands of a job, peace
and joy and victory.

Since we are thus placed, and there is no alternative for us of the free States, but to meet
the trouble that is upon us, or by base concessions and compromises to bring upon ourselves
a far greater trouble, in the name of God, let us let all things go, and cleave to the right.
Prepared to confront the crisis like men, let us with all possible calmness endeavor to take
the measure of the calamity that we dread. God knows I have no desire to make light of it.
But I affirm, that never since the world began, was there a grander cause for which to speak,
to suffer and to die, than the cause of these free States, as against that of the States now rush-
ing upon Secession. The great grievance of which they complain, is nothing more nor less than
this: that we endanger the right they claim to treat human beings as beasts of burden. And
they maintain this monstrous claim by measures inhuman and barbarous, listening not to the
voice of reason or humanity, but treating every man who goes amongst them, suspected of not
favoring their cause, or of the remotest connection with others who do not favor it, with a most
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savage and fiendish cruelty. It is the conflict between barbarism and civilization, between lib-
erty and the most horrible despotism that ever cursed this earth in which we are called to
take part.

And all that is great and noble in the past, all the patriots and martyrs that have suffered
in man’s behalf, all the sacred instincts and hopes of the human soul are on our side, and the
welfare of untold generations of men. Oh, if God, in his infinite bounty, grants us the grace to
appreciate the transcendent worth of the cause which is now at stake, there is no trouble that
can befall us, no, not the loss of property, of idolized parents or children, or life itself, that we
shall not count a blessed privilege. To serve this dear cause of peace and liberty and love, we
have no need to grasp the sword of any instrument of violence and death. But we must be
ready without flinching, to confront the utmost that men can do, and amidst all the uproar
and violence of human passions, still calmly to assert and to exercise our sacred and inalien-
able liberties, let who will frown and forbid, assured that no just and law-of-God-abiding peo-
ple, will ever do otherwise than give us their sympathy and their aid.

Death is the worst that can befall us, if so be that we are faithful to the right. It is a solemn
and a fearful thing to die, and mortality shrinks from facing that last great mystery. But we
must all die, my friends, and the dying hour is not far distant from the youngest of us. To most
of us it is very near. To many, only a few brief years remain. And for the sake of these few and
uncertain years, shall we push off this present trouble upon our children, who have to stay
here a little longer? There is nothing that can so sweeten the bitter cup of mortality when we
shall be called to drink it, nothing that can so cheer us in the prospect of parting from all we
love, nothing that can send such a blessed light on before us into the dark valley which we
must enter, as the consciousness of fidelity to man and to God. And now in these times of great
trouble which have come upon us, we have a peculiar and special opportunity of testifying our
fidelity, and of enjoying a full experience of its power to support us. We may gather from this
trouble, a sweetness that shall take away from all suffering its bitterness. We may kindle that
light in our bosoms, which shall make death come to us as a radiant angel.”

Four months after the above was uttered, on the 28th of April, 1861, after the attack on Fort
Sumter, and the whole North had burst into a flame, people of all denominations flocked to
Dr. Furness’s church, as to that church which had shown that it was founded on a flock, and
none can ever forget the long-drawn breath with which the sermon began: “The long agony is
over!” It was the “Te Deum” of a life-time.

Dr. Furness’s words and counsels were not wanting throughout the war, and his sermons
were constantly printed in the daily press and in separate pamphlet form. And since its close
he has continued his absorbing study of the historical accounts of Jesus.

Dr. Furness was born in Boston, in April, 1802, and was graduated at Harvard, in 1820, and
five years later became the minister of the First Congregational Unitarian Christians, in this
city, and is consequently the senior clergyman, here, on the score of length of pastorate.

Happy is the man, and enviable the gospel minister, who, looking back upon his course in
the great anti-slavery contest, can recall as the chief charge brought against him, that of
being over-zealous! That he spoke too often and said too much in favor of the slave! There are
but few men, and still fewer ministers, who have a right to take comfort from such recollec-
tions! and yet it is to this small class that the cause is most indebted under God, for its tri-
umph, and the country for its deliverance from Slavery.





